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PPTTSSDD  AANNDD  SSUUIICCIIDDEE  AARREE  LLIINNKKEEDD  TTOO  MMIILLIITTAARRYY  TTRRAAIINNIINNGG  
 
The evidence, as supplied in this submission, shows that Australian Defence Force 
training is a major contributor to suicide of veterans and ex-service personnel, in that, 
to ensure they react automatically in a war like situation, their stress levels are raised 
to 9 out of 10, where they remain for the rest of the individual’s life. 
 
A minor incident can easily push a veteran’s stress levels to 11 out of 10. 
 
11 out of 10 equals suicide. 
 
This submission is being made to ensure that the matters it raises are placed on the 
public record and subject to public scrutiny.  
 
This submission contains important evidence concerning the physical brain injury of 
PTSD sustained by Australia’s young men and women going through Basic and Corps 
Training in Australia’s Defence Force. 
 
The Australian Federal Government is knowingly subjecting up to fifty percent of 
young recruits to training that will be devastating to their lives, if not kill them. 
 
I believe that it is of utmost importance that this matter be dealt with immediately 
before more young people are subjected to ongoing criminal abuse by the Australian 
Federal Government. 
 
I hope you understand that while you are reading this submission a number of 
Australia’s recruits are being brainwashed to the extent that up to fifty percent of them 
will become physically brain damaged, some for the whole of their lives.  This terrible 
condition not only affects those that are brain damaged but also those close to them. 
 
I say to you again, it is of utmost importance that this matter be dealt with 
immediately and there is no time to waste in bringing this matter to the nation’s 
attention. 
 
A film which also forms part of this submission can be viewed on YouTube at: 
 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ckneovhcx-Y 
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IInnttrroodduuccttiioonn  
 
I am a veteran of the Australian Army and suffer from PTSD and other medical 
conditions. 
 
My PTSD and other medical conditions are the result of an assault upon me where I 
was bashed unconscious by five Australian soldiers when I attempted to stop them 
from raping a female soldier at Randwick Barracks in Sydney in 1976.   
 
Although I reported the assault immediately to an officer at the time, and was later 
interviewed by a sergeant from the Military Police, no action was taken by the Army 
regarding the assault or my injuries. 
 
I felt betrayed by the Army personnel who covered up the incident and did nothing to 
obtain justice for me.  I was horrified that the Army had allowed this to happen and 
continued to cover up and deny the assault.   
 
I have evidence that I have suffered from PTSD since immediately after the assault, 
but I was not formally diagnosed with the condition until 2011, when, on my own 
initiative I sought help from Vietnam Veterans Counselling Service (VVCS) and my 
GP, and was referred to a private psychiatrist for assessment.  I then commenced 
private psychiatric treatment in 2012. 
 
As part of helping myself to understand my condition and to bring some meaning to 
what happened to me I have been  undertaking personal research and, attempting to 
raise awareness of the link between army basic and corps training and PTSD.  My 
concern is that young Australians, who are currently undergoing military training, are 
being exposed, by the Australian Government, to an undeclared risk of getting PTSD. 
 
In making this submission I hope to bring this matter to the attention of people who 
may have the compassion and courage to bring this matter to the nation’s attention 
and to act to bring about changes that will minimise the risk to young men and women 
who may ultimately be called upon to lose their lives in wars incited by politicians. 
 
This submission comprises six written sections, and a film.  The first section details 
the assault upon me, the second describes the impact the assault and subsequent 
events have had on my life, the third sets out some of the appalling experiences I have 
had with DVA, the fourth describes some of the things I have done to stay sane and 
alive, the fifth section is a call to action and includes information as well as important 
questions that need to be answered.  The sixth and final section introduces the 
documentary film I have made about this shameful behaviour that will result in 1 in 3 
serving or veteran personnel acquiring PTSD.  The film can be viewed on YouTube 
at:  https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ckneovhcx-Y  and I have submitted a copy 
on DVD. 
 
TThhee  aassssaauulltt  
 
I joined the Royal Australian Army on 3 June 1975 as a corps enlisted Architectural 
Draftsman.  I completed 12 weeks basic training at Kapooka and then transferred to 
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Casula for corps training with the Royal Australian Military Engineers.  I remained at 
Casula until January 1976 when I was transferred to the Chief Engineers’ Office, 
Victoria Barracks in Sydney. 
 
While at this posting, in mid-1976, I was assaulted by a group of male soldiers.  I was 
beaten about the head and body and rendered unconscious while attempting to prevent 
the imminent sexual assault (rape) of a female soldier.  
 
I was returning to my accommodation block at Randwick Barracks in the evening, 
when I noticed a female soldier  whom I worked with at the C.E.'s office. She 
was with a group of male soldiers (approximately 5, who all appeared sober). One of 
the male soldiers was a corporal. 
 
I said hello as l was passing and noticed that was intoxicated.  While I was 
talking to , the corporal said that his car was next to us and that I could "go 
first".  I believed that  may have been at risk of assault or possibly rape, so I sat 
in the car and talked to her for about twenty minutes in an attempt to allow her to 
sober-up. 
 
While I was sitting in the car with her, the car door opened and I was pulled out of the 
car and onto the ground by the corporal who was infuriated and who, with at least one 
of the other soldiers, began to beat me to unconsciousness about the head and body 
with their fists while I was on the ground. I woke up twenty minutes later and found 

, the car, and the soldiers gone. 
 
I was extremely concerned about  welfare and immediately went to the 
officer's married quarters at the barracks and raised the alarm to a male officer.  I was 
advised to return to my accommodation block by the officer.  
 
The next day I attended work with abrasions and black eyes.  I was interviewed that 
day by a sergeant in the Military Police. He stated to me that I must have had an 
involvement with  to be so concerned. I replied to him that I was in a committed 
relationship with a woman in Adelaide and was about to be married.  The sergeant 
discontinued the conversation. I heard nothing of the incident following the interview. 
 
I did not attend the RAP for treatment of the physical injuries that had been inflicted 
on me during the assault. 
 

 arrived at work two days later and thanked me for my help that evening. She 
told me that the Military Police had asked her to change corps to the Military Police, 
and that she could be transferred to Recruiting, and that maybe there was a promotion 
in the offering. 
 
My record of service sheet shows a charge against me in early November 1976.  This 
incident occurred at Singleton Army Base where I had been sent overnight to design a 
new dental surgery.  After work I went to the mess and became drunk.  Returning to 
the accommodation I was disorientated and walked through an 'off limits' area.  I was 
challenged by a civilian whereupon, unfortunately, I told him to 'piss off', and I was 
subsequently charged. 
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Around the same time I was detained overnight at a police station at Darlinghurst in 
Sydney for being drunk.  I phoned the CE's office the next morning from the 
Darlinghurst lockup, and was subsequently picked up from the lockup and taken to 
work.  There are no details of this on my army record and I have no personal records 
of this event. 
 
Not long after this I was called to a meeting with the Chief Engineer  

, who said that things did not seem to be going too well for me, and that he 
would make it possible for me to get out of the Army if I wanted to.  I did not accept 
the offer, telling the CE that I had signed on for six years and was prepared to meet 
that commitment. 
 
I discharged from the Army on 2 June 1981.   
 
TThhee  iimmppaacctt  
 
Currently I am receiving treatment from a Doctor, and a Psychiatrist.  My Psychiatrist 
has diagnosed me as suffering from Post-traumatic Stress Disorder, Generalized 
Anxiety Disorder, Alcohol Dependence (in remission), Nicotine Dependence (in 
remission). 
 
I sustained injuries from the incident, which were physical/psychological and long 
term. I suffered black eyes, abrasions, concussion, and neck and back injuries from 
the incident. I have suffered for 38 years from anxiety stress and depression. This 
manifested for a number of years as alcoholism, for which I spent three months in an 
Alcohol and Drug Treatment Unit in the Darwin Hospital.  In 1989 I attended a 
psychiatrist to help with problems. I continue to suffer from PTSD, depression, 
anxiety, stress, headaches and back and neck pain.  
 
My relationships with family and friends have suffered and continue to do so. I 
married in August 1976 and had a marriage breakdown in 1979, primarily due to my 
alcohol dependence.  I remarried in 1999.  I have current marriage issues with my 
wife suffering from depression and requiring treatment due to my ongoing mental and 
physical issues caused by the assault.   
 
My career in the ADF suffered because of my alcoholism, medical issues and loss of 
faith and trust in the Army system which had failed to deliver justice, left me 
disinclined to pursue promotion or to further re-enlist.  
 
My career in commercial architecture also suffered because of my psychiatric 
problem. 
 
After leaving the Army, I worked for the Commonwealth Department of Housing and 
Construction in Darwin for two and a half years.  It was while I was in Darwin that I 
underwent a three month voluntary detoxification program.  However, after leaving 
Darwin I moved to a rented shack at Mannum (country South Australia) and 
essentially isolated myself there for the next six months to continue my recovery. 
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I then returned to Adelaide and gained employment with a number of large 
commercial architectural firms, but I have essentially only held short term or contract 
jobs since my return from the Northern Territory.  
 
The last full-time permanent position I held was as the Housing/Building Coordinator 
with AP Services, in the Anangu Pitjantjatjara Lands in South Australia.  My 
symptoms became extreme during this period of employment and I actually started 
abusing alcohol again.  When this happened I realised I needed to remove myself 
from this situation and resigned in 1996. 
 
My PTSD stopped me from working because I am unable to work with other people, I 
have difficulty concentrating, I am quickly exhausted, and easily overwhelmed by 
even the simplest challenges.  
 
I received a Centrelink Disability Support Pension in December 2000 for my 
psychological and physical injuries. 
 
Nevertheless I had previously successfully completed Bachelor of Visual Arts and a 
research Masters of Architecture in Aboriginal housing and in 2007 I enrolled as a 
PhD candidate, also in Aboriginal housing, with Queensland University of 
Technology.   
 
I felt I would be able to undertake this further study because the solitary nature of 
research meant I was able to work at my own pace when I felt well enough, and with 
minimal contact with other people.  It meant I did not feel completely useless and was 
able to make an important contribution to society. Except for scholarships my 
research and study has been unfunded. 
 
I had to withdraw from my candidature when my PTSD symptoms again escalated 
after I was exposed to media reports of the ADFA Skype affair in 2011. 
 
My PTSD means that I live my life in a constant state of stress and anxiety.  I see 
catastrophe all around me and always expect the worst. I do not trust anyone and I 
find it impossible to see any good in people, events and life overall.  I live in a 
constant state of irritation and anger, finding fault and wrongdoing in almost 
everything around me.  I find social contact with people physically and emotionally 
draining.  There is next to nothing in my life that gives me pleasure. 
 
My significant relationships with other people are gravely affected.  I am unable to 
relate to anyone other than my grandchildren, my wife (most of the time), and my son 
(some of the time). 
 
My relationship with my son is strained and fractious because he reacts badly to my 
PTSD symptoms of irritability, anger and negative outlook.  He has had to live with it 
all of his life.  He thinks I am a hypochondriac and a loser. 
 
My relationship with my wife is also strained and riven by conflict.  My wife tries to 
support me, but her own mental health has suffered and she is also receiving 
psychiatric treatment.  I find fault with much of what she does and we argue 
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frequently.  My wife lives on tenterhooks in anticipation of my next angry outburst.  
We live perpetually on the brink of separation.   
 
My relationship with my two sisters is distanced, as was that with my mother until her 
passing in 2013, and I have maintained these relationships primarily through a strong 
sense of moral obligation.  
 
I find it extremely testing to mix socially with people.  I find it impossible to cope 
with large groups and or to engage socially with individual people for any more than 
about half an hour.  I have difficulty following the flow of conversations and I am 
unable to remember much of what is said.  I am suspicious of people and their 
motivations and am unable to form friendships.  
 
Since the onset of my PTSD immediately following the assault I have always found it 
hard to make long term meaningful friendships.  My ability to socialise casually with 
people has gradually diminished over the ensuing years.  My suspicions and distrust 
of others increased significantly immediately after the assault.  Over the last 15 years 
or so I have been unable to do much more than stay at home, or spend time with my 
wife. 
 
My medication gives some relief from my symptoms so I can at least attempt to 
maintain my relationships with my grandchildren, son, wife, and sisters, and feel that 
there is a reason to continue living. 
 
I have no motivation or energy to do anything and when I do manage to find a little 
bit of energy I am easily exhausted and overwhelmed, especially if things do not go 
right. 
 
The number of activities I engage in has been greatly reduced due to my PTSD.  I 
mainly watch television or browse the internet, neither of which is very satisfying.  
The only satisfying activities I undertake are riding my motor bike, and sailing, for 
which I rely very heavily on my wife for organising the outing and the physical tasks 
involved.  I only do these activities very occasionally now. 
 
I rely on my wife totally for completion of all domestic tasks, financial matters and 
other activities associated with daily living. 
 
I have suffered financially from the loss of a substantial farm property following my 
first marriage breakup (over a million dollars). 
 
I have suffered and continue to suffer from the loss of access to my son and 
grandchildren. 
 
I have suffered and continue to suffer because my PTSD damages the relationship 
between my wife and I, and constantly puts our marriage at risk. 
 
Since the Skype incident I have suffered from the inability to continue my PhD in 
architecture at the Queensland University of Technology. 
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I felt betrayed by the Army personnel who covered up the incident and purposely did 
nothing to obtain justice for me.  I was horrified that I had been attacked by men who 
were meant to be covering my back, that the Army had allowed this to happen, and 
has continued to cover up and deny the assault.  
 
I still find it incredibly painful to talk about the assault, and the deterioration of my 
mental health in the years that followed. 
 
My PTSD means I have no desire or capability to pursue any meaningful activity, 
whether that is physically, mentally or emotionally and this fills me with despair and 
self-loathing. 
 
My condition has been worsened by shortcomings in the DVA Claim process which I 
describe in the following section.  
 
An analogy to what has happened to me since the assault in 1976 is that I had 
attempted to save another Australian soldier’s life by running onto the battlefield 
under fire.  Myself and the other soldier were seriously wounded.  I lay in the 
battlefield for 38 years wounded.  When I called out for help I was fired at with no 
hope of repatriation. 
 
The incredible truth here is that the enemy who seriously wounded myself and the 
other soldier were other Australian soldiers, who bashed and raped their fellow 
soldiers. 
 
The absolutely incredible truth here is that when I called out for help and was then 
fired upon, it was by my own country (DVA). 
 
So much for the mythology of the Australian digger, who looks out for his mates, 
used so often by Australian Governments for their own benefit. 
 
My grandfather, who fought at Hill 60 with The First Australian Tunnelling Company 
RAE against the Germans in WW1, and my father, who defended Australia’s airfields 
against the Japanese in WW2 in the 43 Battalion AIF, would be dumbfounded, and if 
they were alive today would be appalled to find Australian Governments that did not 
care about the welfare of its service men and women, only about its own “hip pocket” 
and reputation.  Consecutive Australian Governments’ have lost their moral 
compasses. 
 
It is deplorable that the Australian Government, the Australian Army and the 
Department of Veterans’ Affairs have failed in their duty of care because they failed 
to act on the report of serious criminal assault and rape on three occasions over a 
thirty six year period; and they also failed to offer treatment for my PTSD injuries on 
those same three occasions.  
 
TThhee  nniigghhttmmaarree  ooff  DDVVAA  
 
My experiences with DVA have been extremely unsatisfactory, unhelpful, distressing 
and they have exacerbated my PTSD symptoms and consequently had a detrimental 
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effect on my physical health.  My dealings with DVA have been marked by 
misrepresentations, misleading or incorrect information, obfuscation and outright lies. 
 
In 2001 I lodged a claim with Department of Veterans’ Affairs for a disability 
pension.  During that claims process I advised the Veterans’ Review Board of the 
assault, but no action was taken regarding the assault or my injuries. 
 
As part of assessing my 2001 claim, I was seen by DVA medico-legal psychiatrist 
psychiatrist  (in 2002) who diagnosed me with a Generalised Anxiety 
Disorder.  In his report he noted that if I did not receive treatment immediately my 
condition would become permanent.  
 
My records show that I told the VRB about the assault and possible rape in 2003.  
However, what is not shown in my records is that my testimony was summarily 
dismissed by one member of the VRB with a flippant comment to the effect of: “I 
suppose you want to claim for that now” (a Brigadier).  No further evidence or action 
concerning the assault was taken. 
 
DVA eventually denied my 2001 claim, saying that my injuries were not service 
related. 
 
My mental illness also meant I did not have the capacity to pursue the matter of my 
2001 DVA claim any further. 
 
I did not receive any treatment until 2006 when, on my own initiative, I sought help 
from my GP who prescribed anti-depressant medication. 
 
In 2011, my condition worsened considerably following media reports of the SKYPE 
affair, and I sought additional treatment.  It was then psychiatrist  
diagnosed my condition as PTSD. 
 
In August 2011 I again lodged a claim with DVA for a disability pension for 
"depression, anxiety and stress" which the DVA acknowledged.  
 
As part of the claims process, I again attended .   prepared two 
reports following that consultation.  In his first report,  requested additional 
information prior to offering an opinion on diagnosis and causation. 
 
The DVA Claims Officer dealing with my case,  never asked me for the 
information held by me that  requested.   
 
In his second report  states he was unable to make a clear diagnosis because 
critical information he had requested from DVA was not forthcoming.  The 
information  requested from DVA contained important information 
concerning the criminal assault upon me, the rape of the female soldier, the 
subsequent effects on my mental health and the eventual diagnosis of my PTSD by  

.  Despite  advising  that his diagnosis was offered in 
the absence of this information, she chose to determine my claim on the basis of an 
incomplete assessment. 
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I was subsequently refused my application for "anxiety disorder and alcohol 
dependence" (DVA had changed the basis of my application without notifying me) on 
the grounds that my condition was not service related.   
 
I appealed the decision to the Veterans’ Review Board. 
 
Part of the appeals process under the Veterans’ Entitlements Act is that DVA has the 
opportunity to review all claims, prior to referral to the VRB.  My file indicates that 
DVA did not take the opportunity within this part of the process afforded them to take 
further evidence or to conduct further investigation.  Instead they abdicated their 
responsibility in this regard by choosing not to review my case and referring it to the 
VRB.  
 
The correspondence I received seemed to indicate DVA had made this decision by 
relying heavily on the reports prepared by  in 2002, and 2011, and the 
absence of any record of the assault in my army personnel and medical records. 
 
I decided I would need to find my own evidence and set about trying to locate .  
In doing so I contacted a former colleague who had worked with me at the CE’s office 
in Sydney, whose wife had been friendly with .  He told me he remembered the 
time I had been assaulted, and provided a statutory declaration to this effect.  
However, I was unable to locate  until late in 2012 when I discovered (via a 
Google search) that she had passed away earlier that year. 
 
As part of my preparations for my appeal to the VRB I gained access to documents on 
my file through a Freedom of Information request.  It was then I discovered that  

 had requested information which had not been obtained from me.  This caused 
me great distress, particularly as  reports clearly qualified his findings as 
being incomplete in the absence of this information.   
 
I tried to ascertain how I could submit this information in support of my claim.  This 
led to several confusing and distressing phone calls with Claims Office , 
asking when DVA/VRB would request the additional information I held.  My distress 
reached such a point that my wife had to eventually speak to a supervisor,  

 who advised her it was appropriate for me to submit whatever additional 
evidence I held to support my claim, at this stage of the process.  He also 
acknowledged that the Application for Review form was misleading and confusing in 
that it did not provide information to this effect.   apologised for the 
manner in which I had been treated and commented that the form needed to be 
amended 
 
Also, at no time did DVA request that I complete an Alcohol Questionnaire, although 
I have since been told this should be standard procedure.  It was not until my 2011 
claim was appealed to the Veteran’s Review Board that I was asked to complete this 
document.  At no time have I been asked to complete a Smoking Questionnaire. 
 
Further, despite the outstanding information requested by  subsequently being 
submitted by me, DVA did not seek to have him revisit his diagnosis. 
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The other matter causing me acute distress was that, from where I stood, DVA had 
changed my claim (by changing how it was described) without advising me or 
explaining why and this was incredibly confusing, and distressing.  
 
I raised this matter with the Minister for Veterans Affairs (2 May 2013) and was 
advised by his office that, on the basis of  reports, DVA had determined, 
“generalised anxiety disorder and alcohol dependence” was the appropriate medical 
diagnosis for my claim 
 
At no point during the claims process did DVA advise me why they had changed the 
description of my condition, and, hence, the basis of my claim. 
 
I first saw my treating psychiatrist, , in January 2012, following a 
referral from my GP.  It was  who advised me I was eligible to apply for a 
DVA White Card which would help pay for my treatment. He assisted me with 
making an application for a white card on the basis of his diagnosis of PTSD.   
 
I was subsequently issued a white card for Anxiety. 
 
A letter I received from DVA dated 16 March 2012 stated that “Approval has been 
given for you to receive treatment for anxiety disorder at the expense of the 
Department with effect from 20 May 2001,” and that a White Card would be 
forthcoming.   
 
Again, I could not understand why the card had been granted for a condition other 
than that which had been applied for.  I was gravely concerned and distressed that 
DVA’s records were not reflecting the diagnosis of PTSD, given by my treating 
psychiatrist. 
 
Clearly, DVA had ignored the PTSD diagnosed by  and chosen to privilege 
the diagnosis of , made on the basis of one consultation, and, on his own 
admission, offered in the absence of significant and crucial information, over that of 

 who has had numerous consultations with me since I started seeing him in 
February 2012.   
 
I raised this question with the Minister (3 August 2013) and received a response from 
DVA advising that: 
 

Although consultant psychiatrist  had provided a brief statement 
that you suffered from PTSD, DVA held three detailed reports from  
suggesting otherwise.  

 
This explanation seemed unlikely because  completed the DVA form 
Application for Health Care in Respect of Post Traumatic Stress Disorder 
(PTSD) in its entirety, providing the information specified, and submitted it to DVA.  
The section of the form Diagnostic Report – Report Detail is specific and succinct 
about the information required from the treating Psychiatrist.  It asks a question 
requiring a “Yes” or “No” answer and provides four lines for the treating Psychiatrist 
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to add further details and “specify ICD codes where possible”.  Nowhere on this form 
is the treating Psychiatrist asked to provide any further information.  Further, the form 
requires the diagnosis and application to be made by the treating Psychiatrist.   

 was not, and is not, my treating psychiatrist.   
 
The above explanation seemed even more unlikely when, after  
( ) submitted the same DVA form as  had done 
(Application for Health Care in Respect of Post Traumatic Stress Disorder 
(PTSD)), I was advised I had been accepted for treatment for PTSD.   
 
I further challenged the privileging of  diagnosis over that of my treating 
psychiatrist in further correspondence with the Minister (2 October 2013). 
 
The questionable nature of this matter was reinforced when the Minister subsequently 
advised (13 January 2014) that a report from  (which I understand 
to be the same form as that submitted by ) meant it had been “accepted that 
the weight of evidence favoured a diagnosis of post traumatic disorder (PTSD)”. 
 
I appeared before the VRB in October 2013.  The VRB accepted  diagnosis 
of PTSD, Generalised Anxiety Disorder, and Alcohol Dependence, and recorded that 
my claim was for those conditions.  The VRB took detailed evidence from me 
regarding the particulars of the assault, the subsequent events, and the impact of the 
assault on my life.  The VRB found that further evidence was required before it could 
make a determination on my case and adjourned the matter.  The VRB requested 
DVA to provide an historical report on the circumstances surrounding the assault. 
 
DVA subsequently commissioned a report from  which 
was conducted by   It is my understanding the researcher 
contacted my colleague who had provided evidence (by was of statutory declaration) 
on my behalf.  At no time did he contact me directly for any information or seek to 
interview me. 
 
The VRB advised DVA that purpose of obtaining an historical report was to provide 
contemporaneous evidence to the assault.  The board advised DVA that they were 
seeking: statements from a wider group of personnel; MP files, investigative notes, or 
reports; the service documents (including the medical file) of .  However, the 
report author did not access the documents sought by the VRB. 
 
The researcher who prepared the report on behalf of DVA did not make any reference 
to having made any attempts to contact any other personnel, specifically my CO,  

, thereby suggesting he did not do so. Also he relied on advice from 
third parties as to what records could be expected to be found, and then relied on 
advice from Defence that such records did not exist.  (I subsequently tracked down  

, but he had recently passed away). 
 
The researcher was DENIED access to  service records by Defence and relied 
on advice from Defence that her service records contained no reference to any 
incident.  He did not obtain or inspect her files for himself. 
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Further, in its findings of 11 July 2014 the VRB noted: 
 

The report contains suppositions and opinions based on the report 
author’s military service.  …  Regrettably the report author was, in 
effect, substituting his service knowledge for ‘evidence’. 

 
And 

 
Accordingly, the author’s suppositions are not substantiated by any 
evidence.  They follow the form of “had event A occurred, what 
should have happened was x, y, and z”.  Such conclusions are 
unhelpful to the Board. 

 
I understand DVA have since discontinued using the services of , whose 
reports had been the subject of considerable controversy for some time.  
 
In July 2014, the Veterans’ Review Board reconvened my matter and advised that 
they found, on the balance of probabilities, the assault had occurred and my injuries 
were service related, and I was entitled to compensation under the Veterans’ 
Entitlements Act.  They referred my case to DVA for assessment of the rate of benefit 
payable. 
 
I have since been assessed by DVA as eligible to receive 80% of the General Pension 
Rate because of my service related injuries.   
 
This assessment was made in the absence of me completing a necessary Lifestyle 
Questionnaire.  However, Claims Officer,  had assigned a lifestyle 
rating of 3.  I raised the fact that I had not been asked to complete a Lifestyle 
questionnaire with my RSL advocate who said that it did not matter because it would 
not make any difference to my disability rating.  I was unsatisfied with this response 
and raised the matter with DVA, in a personal attendance upon .  She 
subsequently wrote confirming that I had not been requested to complete the Lifestyle 
Questionnaire and sent a form for me to complete and return.  I elected to complete 
the self assessment option, which indicated a lifestyle rating of 5. 
 
I have since received a letter from Ian Allison, advising that DVA had reviewed my 
case and the disability rating of 3 used in their assessment of my level of disability 
was appropriate.  No mention was made of the fact that the form I completed 
indicated a different impairment rating. 
 
I am currently appealing this assessment.  It is the opinion of my psychiatrist that my 
injuries are total and permanent and were the sole cause of my cessation of work. 
 
TTrryyiinngg  ttoo  ssttaayy  ssaannee  aanndd  aalliivvee  
 
As well as commencing psychiatric treatment and counselling, I decided I could take 
some action of my own to challenge the institutional processes that were making my 
life hell, to seek additional treatment that would help me manage my condition and to 
gain a better understanding of what had happened to me by conducting some research.  
All of this had to wait for those short periods when I felt strong enough to quell some 
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of the distress and anger, and was able to concentrate sufficiently to undertake these 
tasks.  I relied heavily on my wife to complete most of them. 
 
Writing to the Minister(s) 
 
Despairing and angry at the treatment I was receiving through the lack of information, 
and misleading advice, I sought help from within the political process.   
 
Throughout 2012 and 2013 I wrote numerous letters to Prime Ministers, Ministers, 
Senators, and the Commonwealth Ombudsman outlining my concerns about the 
shortcomings in DVA’s processes. 
 
Most of these letters went unacknowledged, or unanswered.  Those answers I have 
received appeared to merely regurgitate information provided by DVA as 
incontestable fact, or ignored the questions I had asked.  I even have evidence that 
some of the information contained in the letters was completely untrue.   
 
Copies of these letters are attached – see Annexures 1 to 5).  Three major concerns I 
raised in these letters are discussed below. 
 
DVA’s false promises that cost me money 
 
On two occasions I approached DVA for treatment of physical conditions related to 
my PTSD and anxiety as part of my psychiatric treatment, under the white card 
system.   
 
The first was for some dental treatment related to teeth grinding arising from my 
anxiety and stress.  The DVA said that if I went to my dentist for an examination they 
would reimburse the money that I had spent and then would follow up with further 
treatment.  When DVA were asked to pay for the consultations and further treatment, 
they refused.   
 
When I raised this matter with the Minister (2 May 2013), DVA told the Minister that 
they had no record of me having requested assistance with dental treatment. 
 
The claim that DVA holds no record of me seeking assistance with dental treatment is 
not true.  My enquiries about assistance with dental treatment started on a date I did 
not record, and with a member of DVA staff who did not offer her name, and whose 
name I did not request.  I was told that DVA would contribute an amount, which I 
recall as being $61, toward the cost of a dental examination.  I was also told that if 
that examination revealed damage to my teeth arising from my mental health 
condition, for example damage caused by tooth grinding due to stress, DVA would 
cover the cost of the treatment.  On the basis of this advice I attended  

, who completed an examination.   then wrote to DVA on 6 June 
2012 seeking approval of the cost of his proposed treatment.  DVA denied this request 
in a letter dated 21 June 2012 from , Medical and Allied Health Services, 
to .  Following this I personally paid  account for the 
examination.  
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The second occasion was with regard to obtaining a CPAP machine for treatment of 
sleep apnoea.  A staff member of DVA told me, over the phone, that DVA would pay 
for the costs of a CPAP machine if I obtained a letter from my doctor confirming that 
I needed one.   wrote a letter to DVA outlining my need for a CPAP 
machine, and forwarded it to DVA on my behalf.  The request was made on the basis 
that it was part of my treatment for my mental health condition because sleeping 
well is a crucial aspect of improving mental health.  In fact, a number of brochures 
published by DVA attest to this fact. 
 
When I contacted DVA (Adelaide office) to follow up on Dr Short’s request, they 
denied all knowledge of having received his letter, which had been sent by facsimile 
transmission to , RAP Division.  I contacted  office and they 
obliged by sending the letter again.  I waited in the DVA office until they confirmed it 
had been received.  In the meantime, the staff member at the reception desk had given 
me a Claim for Disability Pension form and told me to complete that as part of my 
request.  I tried at length to explain to him that I did not want to claim sleep apnoea as 
a service related injury and had no intention of wasting everybody’s time by doing so.  
Rather, I wanted to be able to claim treatment for sleep apnoea as part of my mental 
health treatment, for the reasons stated above.   
 
The situation became increasingly distressing and frustrating and I eventually had to 
leave the office, leaving my wife to deal with the matter.  She asked to speak to a 
supervisor and was eventually seen by  (a manager) and .  She had 
a lengthy conversation with and , explaining my situation and reiterating 
the point that the request was being made on the basis that it was part of the treatment 
for my accepted condition and not as a claim for a service related condition.   
and  acknowledged this point of view, but said it was highly probable that any 
request in this regard would be denied because the staff involved would not be able to 
see the correlation.  gave my wife a form for completion by my sleep physician 
and made the offer that if I were to bring the completed form into her, she 
would forward it to the relevant division with DVA, with a supportive comment as to 
why it should be approved. 
 
In the meantime,  letter of 3 May 2012 appeared to have been forwarded to 
RAP Queensland.  , Client Services, replied most promptly on 16 May 
2012 declining the request.  Her letter did not advise that  was not an 
approved prescriber for CPAP machines.  She did, however, cite the National 
Schedule of Equipment as specifying “which prescribers are eligible to prescribe the 
items listed”.  If DVA believes this constitutes advising  and I that he is not 
considered eligible to prescribe CPAP as a treatment then they are sadly mistaken.  I 
was not given a copy of that Schedule, nor was I told where I might be able to access 
a copy.  I was also, once again, given what now appears to be the stock standard 
response that I should lodge a claim to have sleep apnoea recognised as service 
related.  As I have said previously, this would have been a futile exercise, because it is 
not service related.   
 
In this matter of the CPAP machine, as with the dental treatment DVA seemed intent 
on deliberately missing the point of the request.  Further letters received from the 
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Minister and DVA conflict and contradict each other as to whether a claim for a 
CPAP machine would be accepted as part of my psychiatric care plan.   
 
Given the state of my mental health and the increased distress these specific matters 
was causing me, both my wife and I decided this particular battle should be deferred 
and pursued at a later date.   
 
DVA’s lack of action exacerbated my condition 
 
Prior to being assisted by  I was not advised by DVA and did not know 
about the DVA White Card.   told me that it had taken him five phone calls to 
DVA to ascertain whereabouts on the DVA website he could access the application 
form. 
 
I was extremely distressed that I had not been advised by DVA or my RSL advocates 
that, even though my 2001 claim had been denied, I had been diagnosed with a 
psychiatric condition for which I would have been eligible for treatment under a 
White Card (Specified Condition).   
 
I did not receive any treatment until 2006 when, on my own initiative, I sought help 
from my GP who examined me, read  2002 report and prescribed anti-
depressant medication.  He also wrote a letter of referral for me to see  but 
when I rang to make an appointment to see  I was told he only saw DVA 
clients.  Disgusted and dejected I decided I would get by on my own. 
 
As noted previously, when I was seen by  in 2002 he noted that if I did not 
receive treatment my condition would become permanent.  He also stated that: 
 

I would recommend that Mr. Lawler attend a Psychiatrist for 
psychotherapy and psychotropic medication. …” 

 
Despite this recommendation DVA did not provide me with the assistance for 
treatment provided by the White Card facility. 
 
I raised this matter with the Minister (2 May 2013), and the response I was given was 
that: 
 

It was indeed open to DVA in 2002 and again in 2011 to have extended eligibility 
to you for treatment of your anxiety disorder, and it is regrettable that this was 
not done. This was noted in March 2012 when determining your formal 
application for this treatment, and it was in view of this that your eligibility was 
backdated to 20 May 2001, three months prior to your original claim.  

 
The statement that “it is regrettable” DVA failed to advise me of my eligibility for 
treatment of my condition under the White Card facility is trite and offensive.  In my 
view it is has been extremely detrimental to my physical and mental health and in this 
regard DVA have been exceptionally negligent. 
 
When I received the letter from DVA regarding the grant of the White Card I took the 
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date of 20 May 2001 noted therein to be a typographical error, as it made no sense 
otherwise.  Even though DVA’s letter confirms that this date is indeed correct, it 
remains unclear as to what effect the back dating of my eligibility for a White Card is 
intended to have, as it is clearly not possible for me to retrospectively seek treatment 
and, as I have not been able to afford to seek treatment in the past, I had no expenses 
to claim.   
 
I have sought clarification from the Minister on two further occasions regarding the 
purpose or intended effect of back dating the White Card but have received no 
comment in this regard. 
 
If DVA had advised me that they could assist with treatment, I would have taken it.  
However, they did not, and my mental health has deteriorated further and my quality 
of life has reduced accordingly.  
 
In accordance with prognosis, in the absence of treatment, my disability 
continued and is now permanent.   
 
Alteration of my medical records 
 
The documents I received under my Freedom of Information request also revealed a 
discrepancy between the copies of my army medical records I had received in 
November 2001 and those which had been sent to me as part of my DVA file.  The 
discrepancy was that Items 49, 50 and 51 of my final medical examination had not 
been completed on the copies I held, but those from my DVA file had been.  It was 
most concerning that these Items were for 49 Other, 50 Emotional Stability; and 
51 Mental Capacity.   
 
The alteration of my records was incredibly distressing and I was very angry because 
they had been altered in a way that supported DVA’s claim that ‘I did not have a 
service related injury’. 
 
I raised this with the Minister (2 May 2013) and was advised that Defence had been 
asked to investigate.  Defence had subsequently advised that the copy of my file at 
Central Medical Records held a letter dated 18 May 1981 to the effect that the items 
had not been completed and had been returned to the medical centre for completion.  
However, there is no indication as to why these items had not been completed at the 
time of my examination.  Defence advised the Minister that returning the documents 
was in keeping with policy at the time.  The Minister also claimed that: 
 

…the completion appears to have been undertaken by the same medical officer 
undertaking the final medical board, and within a timeframe to make this 
completion accurate and appropriate.  
 

The copies of my medical and dental records which I now hold were forwarded to me 
on 9 November 2001 by Australian Defence Force Health Records – Army.  The 
covering letter described these documents as: 
 

your Unit Medical Record (UMR) which is a duplicate copy of your Central 
Medical Record (CMR). 
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These documents do not contain a letter dated 18 May 1981 concerning boxes 49 to 
51.  It seems strange that if my file had been returned to the medical unit for 
completion that the unit records were not also amended.  Also, the ticks that have 
been placed in those boxes are noticeably different from all of the others on the sheet 
of paper. 
 
I have had legal advice that, considering the items were not completed at the time of 
my final medical examination, I cannot be considered to have been properly 
examined, even though the document was subsequently amended so it was complete. 
 
By 2014 I was tired of writing letters.  I was also very frustrated, angry, and distressed 
that no-one from DVA had taken the time to speak to me directly about the facts of 
my claim.  I decided to travel to Canberra and protest.  I took to the steps of 
Parliament house with a megaphone.  I also called upon the offices of DVA and the 
Prime Minister in Woden.  This resulted in a two hour interview with  and 

(DVA), who, while making all the right empathetic noises, were more 
interested in how information from me might help them in their job, rather than how 
they might help me. 
 
I have repeatedly contacted Senator Nick Xenophon since May 2011, as he notes on 
his website that he supports the underdog.  For example, in 2013 onwards he has 
advocated for residents of a council owned caravan park that had been served notice 
to vacate.  He has supported a fish and chip shop owner who was about to be fined by 
the local council for illegal signage, and is currently in Hong Kong, advocating on 
behalf of a local sports shoe business which has lost its supply contract with ASICS 
shoes.  The owner paid for his airfare. 
 
In all of these cases Nick Xenophon was to be seen on television supporting these 
causes, and he has had a strong media presence on behalf of these people. 
 
I had contacted Senator Xenophon, hoping he would take up this important cause and, 
as he has done for others, bring my concerns about DVA, ADF abuse, and the link 
between PTSD and military training to the attention of the media.  The outcome after 
almost five years is that in April 2015, a member of the Senator’s staff started to draft 
a series of questions to be put to DVA at the Senate Estimates Committee.   The 
Senator has advised that he will put six questions only to the Senate Committee.  The 
other numerous issues I have raised with him will be directed to the current Minister 
for Veterans’ Affairs, Senator Ronaldson, by way of a (yet another) letter. 
 
Ward 17 at Daw Park Repat 
 
In 2013, I was at a very low point and seriously contemplating self harm.  I realised 
this was not a good place to be and told  I needed more help.  He referred me 
to the PTSD program run by the staff of Ward 17 at the Daw Park Rehabilitation 
Hospital. 
 
My wife and I attended this outpatient program for eight weeks at the end of 2013. 
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As part of the Daw Park PTSD program I saw two films which helped me 
considerably.  The first was “You’re Not in the Forces Now”, produced with 
Australian Government approval, and which included funding to the VVCS for its 
production,.  This film describes the training the Army delivers to new recruits in 
order to prepare them for combat.   A key point made within this lecture is that basic 
and corps training raises the stress levels of recruits to the point where, by being 
“battle fit” they already have PTSD and it is a matter of then being exposed to a 
stressor for the illness to manifest to a diagnosable level. The lecture specifically 
mentions that it is not the effects of war which ex-service personnel are struggling to 
overcome, it is the training they have receive.  The second film was the documentary 
“The Unforgettable Experience” which provided scientific evidence that PTSD is 
actually a physical brain injury.  Now after seeing these videos I fully understood 
what had happened to me. 
 
I also had some understanding of what had happened to cause the men who attacked 
me and raped  to act the way they did.  They had been trained (brainwashed) 
into an aggressive and bullying culture of domination and subordination and, with 
their personal stress levels at 9/10, had lost sight of where the boundaries were in a 
non-combat situation.  They might have had PTSD too.  But, it must be said that these 
men would\could rape women in a warlike situation.  Not a good look for Australia’s 
Defence Force. 
 
Personal research 
 
Since finishing the program at Daw Park I have continued to read widely about 
current research into PTSD.   
 
This research has revealed the following statistics on the prevalence of PTSD in 
veterans and serving personnel. 
 
The 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study Report by Professor 
Sandy McFarlane stated that the 12 month prevalence rate of PTSD amongst all ADF 
members is approximately 8.3%.1 and the Royal Australian Army claims that 2% of 
Australian soldiers who have engaged in operational service suffer from PTSD2. This 
suggests that 6.3% of ADF members suffer from PTSD, even without having engaged 
in operational service.  One very important point arising from these figures is that 
acquiring PTSD is not contingent upon having been in combat.  
 
US figures3 indicate that 12 month prevalence rates (such as those provided by ADF) 
are significantly different from whole of life rates.  That is, the number of veterans 
who will suffer from PTSD over the course of their entire life. 
 
A 1995 study from the United States reported that 30% of military personnel who 
spend time in a warzone experience PTSD.4  

                                                 
1 http://www.defence.gov.au/Health/DMH/Docs/4MHPWSreport-Section1.pdf  
2 http://www.army.gov.au/army-life/wounded-injured-and-ill-digger/support-to-wounded-injured-and-ill/soldier-
recovery/mental-health 
3 http://www.veteransandptsd.com/PTSD‐statistics.html 
4 http://www.military.com/benefits/veterans‐health‐care/ptsd‐frequently‐asked‐questions.html 
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US studies also show that: firstly, rates of PTSD shortly after personnel return from 
deployment are 9% but this rises to 31% a year after deployment; and, secondly, only 
50% of those with PTSD seek treatment. 5  
 
Following from this it is worth noting that if 31% of veterans are recorded as having 
PTSD, but that amount is only 50% of sufferers, then that would suggest it is actually 
60% of veterans that have PTSD.  This 60% figure supports the figure of 56% for 
Australian Vietnam veterans cited by Picking Up the Pieces6. 
 
More recently, Prof. McFarlane states that the percentage for current serving members 
with PTSD (Lifetime Rating) is 16.9%. 7 
 
The Australian Defence Force currently has a total of 103,380 trained personnel, 
comprising current active personnel of 57,982, reserve active of 23,232, and reserve 
standby of 22,1668.  16.9% of 103,380 equals 17,471.  However if only 50% of those 
suffering seek treatment, that means another 17,471 are unreported but suffering with 
PTSD.  Therefore, there are 34,942 men and women currently serving in Australia's 
Defence Force that are suffering with PTSD.  All of these men and women have 
endured Basic and Corps Training.  
 
These figures do not account for veterans that have been discharged.  That is 
information that DVA should be able to advise if, in fact, they have those figures.  But 
of course, many veterans want nothing to do with DVA, so the real figures may never 
be known unless some significant and genuine action is undertaken. 
 
Research has also revealed evidence regarding the significant changes in brain 
structure associated with PTSD.  The key brain structures affected are the frontal 
lobes, amygdala and the hippocampus, which leave suffers in a state of hyper-arousal 
and emotional detachment.9 
 
Further, there is considerable evidence of the detrimental impact of PTSD on the 
physical health of individuals affected.  The attached journal article by Professor 
Alexander McFarlane provides a useful overview of these impacts (see Annexure 6). 
 
My research and my personal experiences have led me to conclude that the reason the 
ADF, DVA, Repatriation Commission and successive Federal Governments have 
hidden this abuse is because if the abuse became public it would reflect badly on the 
ADF.  It would cost the ADF money and reputation and would damage their 
recruiting efforts. 
 
If the assault upon me whilst attempting to prevent the rape had been put in the public 
domain, I most likely would have received an award like the Cross of Valour for “an 
                                                 
5 http://www.veteransandptsd.com/PTSD‐statistics.html 
6 http://www.pickingupthepeaces.org.au/post‐traumatic‐stress‐disorder‐statistics 
7 Personal correspondence 2 July 2015 
8 https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Australian Defence Force 
9 http://vvaveteran.org/33‐5/33‐5 reidlyon.html 
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act of conspicuous courage in circumstances of extreme peril”, but the ADF could not 
afford to let that happen, the ADF’s reputation was at stake. 
 
It is the appalling behaviour of the ADF in the past that has caused the mental 
illnesses of veterans like me, and it is the current appalling behaviour of the DVA that 
is continuing and exacerbating the abuse under the umbrella of the Australian 
Governments.  The stonewalling and delaying tactics the DVA engages in deny and 
delay our claims until we give up, die of old age or commit suicide. 
 
AA  nneeeedd  ffoorr  cchhaannggee  
 
Gaining an understanding of what had happened to me was beneficial but it also 
kindled the simmering rage I had inside me about the injustice of what had happened.  
I am also incensed at the thought of young recruits incurring significant harm that 
they may remain unaware of for ten, twenty or more years.  They sign on knowing 
they may be called upon to fight.  They do not get told they may suffer a lifelong 
brain injury from Basic Training and Corps Training. 
 
I feel a moral obligation to use my understanding to bring about change.  It is part of 
who I am. 
 
The information that needs to be made public is set out below. 
 
PTSD and abuse in Australia’s Defence Force is linked to military 
training and the Government and ADF know this to be the case. 
 
There is a link between Military Basic and Corps training, and PTSD and 
Abuse in the Australian Defence Forces. 
• Defence training predisposes personnel to PTSD, and gives them PTSD. 
• When Defence Force recruits participate in Basic and Corps training their stress 

levels are purposely raised from level 3, to level 9 out of 10 to ensure they 
respond automatically in combat.   

• They are trained to act on their “Fight” response rather than their “Flight” 
response when confronted with a threat. 

• Basic and Corps training ensure that this high level of stress is maintained and 
becomes the “norm”.   

• When the soldier returns to civilian life, their level of stress is still at 9 out of 
10.  Scientists claim that people cannot live normal lives at this stress level. 

• The Australian Government has known about this for decades. 
• The Australian Government and VVCS produced the DVD ‘YOU’RE NOT IN 

THE FORCES NOW’ in 2001 which shows this. 
• The DVD also states that the Defence Force attempts to keep the soldiers stress 

levels under 10 by supplying them with free or cheap alcohol and cigarettes, 
turning some of them into alcoholics and chronic smokers. 

• It is my belief these high stress levels are also the cause of much of the abuse in 
the Defence Force (DART) that goes back to the 1950’s that has been reported 
in the media recently. 

• This heightened level of stress places defence personnel and veterans at a higher 
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risk of suffering PTSD both during and after service.   
 
PTSD is a physical brain injury and can become permanent if not treated 
early. 
• PTSD is a recognised physical brain injury. 
• This is supported by the top 3 researchers in the world into PTSD, including 

Professor Sandy Macfarlane of Adelaide University, who is the advisor to DVA. 
• PTSD is a physical injury because research has shown that the Amygdale and 

Hippocampus are reduced in size. Other areas of the brain are also affected 
leaving chronic sufferers with permanent changes to the brain. 

• 30% (according to American statistics) of defence personnel suffer PTSD.   
• Early diagnosis and treatment can prevent the injury from becoming chronic and 

permanent. 
• The Australian Government does not wish the Australian public to know that 1 

out of 3 recruits will receive and suffer brain injury by joining the Australian 
Defence Force.  Recruiting would suffer enormously. 

 
The Australian Government does not wish to treat veterans suffering from 
PTSD because it would cost too much money. 
• The Government does not wish to advertise to service personnel that they are 

suffering from PTSD due to their time in the services, because it would cost the 
Government time and money to provide these veterans with the care they need.   

• Those they do treat within the 30 days of it beginning to becoming permanent 
are the SAS and Australian Air force pilots, because the Government has spent 
large sums of money training them and cannot afford to have F18 jets not being 
used. 

• Treatment that is available is inadequate.  For example: treatment for alcoholism 
at Daw Park Repatriation Hospital (Ward 17) consists of only 6 days’ admission 
to detox, or a maximum of 10.  It is proven that treatment for alcoholism is 3 
months.  Daw Park is unable to provide 3 months treatment because of lack of 
funding by the Federal Government.  Another example is that although good 
sleep is crucial to good mental health, DVA won’t cover treatment for sleep 
disorder as part of a psychiatric treatment plan. 

• Successive Australian Governments have until now knowingly labelled PTSD 
or shell shock as a non-injury, and by adopting this stance have denied their 
responsibility of due care towards injured veterans. 

• The Government would say that they are doing something about it, but 
servicemen who have recently returned from Afghanistan say they are told to 
keep their eyes on their mates for unusual behaviour, and that is all.   

• Because a great number of veterans are suffering, but do not know why, the 
Government must contact all current and past service personnel to determine the 
extent of PTSD and to offer treatment, to them and their families. 

• A national advertising campaign is needed so current and ex service personnel 
can recognise the symptoms of PTSD, and how to get help.   

• The problem is that PTSD can affect you for the first time forty years after the 
event, and because the Government is not educating the veterans as to what 
PTSD is, the veterans do not understand what is wrong with them.   

 

Suicide by veterans and ex-service personnel
Submission 7



PTSD is linked to Military Training 
John Lawler 

 
 

22 

Up to 30% of existing and past veterans suffer from PTSD.   
• Research shows that it may be 30% of existing and past Australian Defence 

Force veterans suffering from PTSD.  The Australian Government states that it 
is 8.3%, (but American evidence states that it is 30%.  

• Research shows that 65% of Vietnam Veterans have PTSD.  
• The true number of PTSD sufferers has to be ascertained within the forces and 

among those that have left the forces and are now in the community.   
• The issue is that there are tens if not hundreds of thousands of current and ex 

service personnel suffering from PTSD unknowingly and who do not 
understand that it is PTSD that is ruining their lives.   

• I estimate that up to 500.000 of Australian veterans have suffered and continue 
to suffer with PTSD from, and including WWII, if we use the 30% American 
figure. 

 
A Royal Commission is required into ADF, DVA. DART Taskforce and their 
management and treatment of PTSD veterans. 
• The current situation is a National Disgrace and requires a Royal Commission.   
• Men and women have put their hands up to defend Australia, but when they 

become injured, the governments have turned their backs on them. 
• Why should men and women join Australia’s Defence Forces if the Government 

is not willing to look after them when they become sick due to service injury?  
Or worse, when they are attacked by their fellow soldiers and develop PTSD. 

• The PTSD information has been there since the 1st World War.  But Australia’s 
military forces and Governments have done nothing about it  

• The evidence is there, it just takes someone with the courage and strength to 
stand up to the Government and to say they know what the truth is, and that the 
governments are going to be held to account for their appalling lack of due care 
for veterans. 

• There needs to be a Royal Commission into the action of the governments, 
ADF, DVA, and the DART Taskforce, concerning their avoidance of their 
responsibility – their lack of due care over the decades. 

• Changes are needed in the legislation and policies governing DVA and the 
ADF, the methods of training, and minimising harm to serving personnel, and 
the methods of caring for and assisting veterans post service.  

 
Questions need to be asked 
• Why is there such a large disparity between Australian Government and US 

figures on PTSD rates?  
• What is the true percentage in the Australian Forces, past and present? 
• Will the ADF and DVA admit that PTSD is a physical brain injury? 
• Will the ADF accept evidence that defence training causes physical changes in 

each recruit’s brain that predisposes them to, and/or causes PTSD? 
• Will the ADF provide a program of similar length and intensity to basic and 

corps training (6 months) to counter these changes in the brain when personnel 
discharge. 

• Will the ADF declare PTSD is an occupational hazard for all defence personnel, 
not only those who have operational service? 

• Why do the ADF and DVA only wait for serving personnel and veterans to self-
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report when evidence shows PTSD sufferers, are unlikely to seek help, because 
they do not understand that they are suffering from PTSD?  50% goes 
unreported 

• Why do the ADF and DVA deny ex-service organisations the opportunity to 
proactively contact veterans to monitor their mental health? 

• Why does DVA not inform GPs, counsellors, psychologists etc. about treatment 
available to veterans? 

• Why does DVA not tell veterans claiming for benefits for a psychiatric 
condition about treatment available? 

• Considering the well documented “ripple effect” of PTSD, why does DVA not 
cover treatment for veterans’ families? 

• Why does DVA not acknowledge that psychological health has an impact on 
physical health, and allow treatments for relevant physical conditions as part of 
a veteran’s psychiatric condition? 

 
A  doocuumeenttaary  
 
I have combined the information set out above, with my story and the evidence 
provided in the two films “Your Not in the Forces Now” and “The Unforgettable 
Experience” into a documentary film. 
 
This film also contains art work, which I created as one way of coping with my 
PTSD.  This artwork reflects my own personal journey of trauma, horror, betrayal and 
suffering. 
 
In further support of the importance of this issue I refer to the report on Tuesday 
7 April, which the ABC ran a report on the 7:30 program revealing that a significant 
number of navy personnel suffering with ice addiction had committed suicide. 

The information in the DVD explains why these young people in the navy and other 
sections of the defence forces are using ice and other drugs. 

The reason is that they are suffering from PTSD and because the ADF is attempting to 
reduce the intake of alcohol and cigarettes by veterans, they have turned towards 
illicit drugs. 

The DVD explains how defence training causes PTSD and explains how PTSD is a 
physical brain injury. 

When people with PTSD do not receive help and treatment for their PTSD injury, 
they self-medicate with alcohol and other drugs, and as the report on 7:30 discussed, 
this frequently leads to suicide. 

Defence training gives them PTSD, and PTSD causes them to suicide.  The DVD I 
have put together provides proof of this. 

As the ABC’s investigations have shown so far, this is a very important issue, and I 
hope you will take the time to watch this DVD and consider the information it 
contains. 
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Remember, while you have been reading 
this submission and are watching the 
DVD, young Australians, who are now 

undergoing military training will be 
contracting PTSD, which is a permanent 

physical brain injury. 

This will affect not only their lives, but the 
lives of everyone they love. 

 

 

 

 

THE AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT KNOWS THIS! 
 

IT IS AUSTRALIA’S NATIONAL DISGRACE. 

THERE ARE 34,942 MEN AND WOMEN CURRENTLY 
SERVING IN AUSTRALIA'S DEFENCE FORCE THAT 

ARE SUFFERING WITH PTSD 
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2 May 2013 
 
 
 
Stephen Smith, MP 
Warren Snowdon, MP 
Ann McEwen, Senator 
David Johnston, Senator 
Michael Ronaldson, Senator 
  
 
 
 
 
Dear Ministers and Senators, 
 
I am a veteran of the Australian Army and suffer from PTSD and other medical conditions 
relating to an assault upon myself where I was bashed unconscious by five Australian soldiers 
when I attempted to stop them from raping a female soldier at Randwick Barracks in Sydney 
in 1976.   
 
On the 18/6/2011 I applied for a Disability Pension for "depression, anxiety and stress" which 
the DVA acknowledged.  I was then refused my application for "anxiety disorder and alcohol 
dependence".  DVA had changed my claim without advising or consulting with me and my 
claim was forwarded to The Veterans Review Board.  
 
On two occasions the Department of Veteran's Affairs had told me to spend my money to be 
tested for sleep apnoea and to have an inspection of my teeth by a dentist.  I hold a DVA 
white card.  
 
The DVA said that they would refund the money that I had spent and then would follow up 
with further treatment.  When DVA were asked to pay for the consultations and further 
treatment, DVA refused.   
 
As you are probably aware under Promissory Estoppel it is illegal for the Government to tell a 
person to spend money and then advise them the Government has changed its mind about a 
refund and further treatment.   
 
I am currently seeing a psychiatrist and psychologist, both of which are being paid for by 
DVA under my white card.  My wife is also seeing a psychologist because of my illness.  I 
first saw my psychiatrist in January 2011, following a referral from my GP.  It was my 
psychiatrist who advised me I was eligible to apply for a DVA White Card which would help 
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pay for my treatment. He assisted me with making an application for a white card on the basis 
of his diagnosis of PTSD.  I was subsequently issued a white card for Anxiety. 
 
In 2002 I was seen by a DVA psychiatrist who diagnosed me with a Generalised Anxiety 
Disorder.  In his report he noted that if I did not receive treatment my condition would 
become permanent.  I was not advised by DVA that I would have been eligible for treatment 
under a white card.  I did not receive any treatment until 2006 when, on my own initiative, I 
sought help from my GP who prescribed anti-depressant medication.  
 
My mental illness has left me unfit for general employment and I receive a Centrelink 
disability pension.   
 
I have undertaken academic research in Aboriginal Housing as a PhD candidate in 
architecture at QUT as a Research Scholar with the Australian Housing and Urban Research 
Institute and in the past have been a Research Fellow with the Aboriginal Research Institute 
(UniSA) in Aboriginal housing and health.  The solitary nature of research meant I was able 
to research at my own pace when I felt well enough, and it meant I did not feel completely 
useless and was able to make an important contribution to society. Except for scholarships my 
research has been unfunded. 
  
The recent SKYPE affair has seriously reactivated the memories of the assault against me in 
1976.  Over the past two years I have been overwhelmed and unable to continue with my PhD 
because of the increase of my PTSD.   
 
Six weeks ago, my professor contacted me and offered to send a post-graduate researcher 
from QUT (Brisbane) to the Barossa Valley to assist me to complete my thesis.  I said that 
although I wished to finish my PhD, my current mental and emotional state prevents me from 
doing so.   
 
Since the SKYPE affair two years ago I have been on sick leave from my PhD research.  Four 
weeks ago I sent an email to my professor advising him that I was unable to complete because 
of my mental/emotional illness and that I was withdrawing from my PhD candidature.  
 
Evidence has shown that the Government Authorities have:  

• Fraudulently altered my official documents; 
• Behaved illegally and criminally towards me; 
• Hidden serious criminal assault and rape on three occasions over a thirty six year 

period; 
• Miserably failed in their duty of care both legally and morally towards me. 

 
The reason the ADF, DVA, Repatriation Commission and successive Federal Governments’ 
have hidden this abuse is because if the abuse became public it would reflect badly on the 
ADF.  It would cost the ADF money and reputation and would damage their recruiting 
efforts. 
 
If the assault upon myself whilst attempting to prevent the rape had been put in the public 
domain, I most likely would have received an award like the Cross of Valour for “an act of 
conspicuous courage in circumstances of extreme peril”, but the ADF could not afford to let 
that happen, the ADF’s reputation was at stake. 
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3 August 2013 
 
The Hon Warren Snowden, MP 
Minister for Veterans’ Affairs 
Parliament House 
CANBERRA  ACT 2600 
 
 
 
Dear Minister, 
 
I refer to a letter from your Chief of Staff, , dated 26 July 2013, responding to 
my letter to you dated 2 May 2013. 
 
My responses to  letter are set out below.  To make it clear which element of his 
letter I am referring to, I have also incorporated the text of his letter herein, and make my 
comments below the pertinent sections. 
 

Thank you for your email of 2 May 2013 to the Minister for Veterans' Affairs and other 
addressees, concerning your dealings with the Department of Veterans' Affairs (DVA). 
This matter falls within the portfolio responsibilities of Minister Snowdon, who has asked 
me to respond on his behalf. I apologise for the delay in replying.  
 

I note the apology regarding the delay in replying, but would like to bring to your attention, 
that until I received  letter, I had not received any acknowledgement from your 
office that my correspondence had been received. 
 

For compensation to be payable under the Veterans' Entitlements Act 1986 (VEA) there 
must be an injury or disease as defined under the Act. Only when it has been established 
that an injury or disease is present can the relationship of the claimed signs and 
symptoms to service be considered.  
 
Whether or not an injury or disease is present in a particular case and, if it is, the 
appropriate diagnosis of that injury or disease, is a matter for medical opinion. As it was 
the opinion of consultant psychiatrist  that the conditions you claimed in 
2011 as "depression, stress and anxiety" were generalised anxiety disorder and alcohol 
dependence, they were from that point onwards referred to in that way by DVA.  

 
As I claimed previously in the letter forwarded to you and others dated 2nd May 2013.  “On 
the 18/6/2011 I applied for a Disability Pension for “depression, anxiety and stress” which the 
DVA acknowledged.  I was then refused my application for “anxiety disorder and alcohol 
dependence”.  DVA had changed my claim without advising or consulting with me and (their) 
claim was forwarded to The Veterans Review Board. 
 
The diagnosis in the report dated 14/10/2011 by  (DVA psychiatrist) stated: 
 

“17.  DIAGNOSIS 
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 Given the history Mr. Lawler gave to me on this occasion was quite different to 
what he gave me last time and given there appears to be quite a considerable 
amount of information which would assist me I would like to see the following 
information before offering an opinion on diagnosis and causation. 

 
- The details and dates of his drink/driving offences. 
- His military charge sheets and records of any disciplinary issues in the military 

(particularly related to alcohol). 
- Mr. Lawler showed me a document which indicates a chronology of events and I 

would like to see this. 
- His medical records from the army (he said he presented to the RAP in relation to 

symptoms which he attributed to the assault). 
- His drug and alcohol questionnaire (from this claim and the last claim). 
-  report from 1983. 
- Reports, notes or letters from . 
- Any information from  
- Mr. Lawler’s various claim forms. 
- The determination from the Veterans’ Review Board in relation to Mr. Lawler’s 

various claims.” 
 
The Claims Officer dealing with my case,  never asked me for the information 
held by me that  requested.   
 
After I had lodged my application for appeal to the VRB, I had several confusing and 
distressing phone calls with Claims Office , asking when DVA/VRB would 
request the additional information I held.  My distress reached such a point that my wife had 
to eventually speak to a supervisor, , who advised her it was appropriate for 
me to submit whatever additional evidence I held to support my claim, at this stage of the 
process.  He also acknowledged that the Application for Review form was misleading and 
confusing in that it did not provide information to this effect.   apologised for 
the manner in which I had been treated. 
 
Further, at no time did DVA request that I complete an Alcohol Questionnaire, although I 
have since been told this should be standard procedure.  It was not until my 2011 claim was 
appealed to the Veteran’s Review Board that I was asked to complete this document.  At no 
time have I been asked to complete a Smoking Questionnaire. 
 
A following letter on the 23/11/2011 from  claims: 
 

“7.  DIAGNOSIS 
 

I preface my response by noting that you have forwarded some of the information 
to me that I requested to see but not all of the information and in particular I have 
not seen the following: 
 
- The details and dates of his drink/driving offences. 
- His military charge sheets and records of any disciplinary issues in the 

military (particularly related to alcohol). 
- Mr. Lawler showed me a document which indicated a chronology of events 

and I would like to see this. 
- His drug and alcohol questionnaire (from this claim and last claim). 
-  report from 1983. 
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- Reports, notes or letters from . 
- Any information from  

 
Further, on page 6.  states: 
 

“When taking into account the factors I have just discussed, it is my clinical 
opinion, based upon a reasonable degree of medical probability that Mr. Lawler is 
suffering from a Generalized Anxiety Disorder.  His Alcohol Dependence is in 
remission. 
 
9. DISABILITY 
 
Given that the facts are currently unclear which means that issues of causation are 
far from clear I will defer a disability rating until the decision-maker advises me 
what are the facts in this case.” 

 
Clearly  felt he was unable to make a clear diagnosis because critical information 
that he had requested from DVA was not forthcoming.  The information that  
requested from DVA contained important information concerning the criminal assault upon 
me, the rape of , the subsequent effects on my mental health and the eventual 
diagnosis of my PTSD by .  Despite  advising  that his 
diagnosis was offered in the absence of this information, she chose to determine my claim on 
the basis of an incomplete assessment. 
 

I understand that you hold a White Repatriation Health Card for Specific Conditions -also 
known simply as a White Card -that entitles you to treatment for your anxiety disorder 
only. I have been advised that you have no eligibility for dental treatment and that DVA 
has no record of you seeking such treatment at DVA's expense at any time.   

 
The claim that DVA holds no record of me seeking assistance with dental treatment is not 
true.  My enquiries about assistance with dental treatment started on a date I did not record, 
and with a member of DVA staff who did not offer her name, and whose name I did not 
request.  I was told that DVA would contribute an amount, which I recall as being $61, 
toward the cost of a dental examination.  I was also told that if that examination revealed 
damaged to my teeth arising from my mental health condition, for example damage caused by 
tooth grinding, DVA would cover the cost of the treatment.  On the basis of this advice I 
attended , who completed an examination.  then wrote to DVA 
on 6 June 2012 seeking approval of the cost of his proposed treatment.  DVA denied this 
request in a letter dated 21 June 2012 from , Medical and Allied Health Services, 
to .  Following this I personally paid  account for the examination.  
Copies of these letters and  account are attached. 
 
The White Card was not forthcoming until my psychiatrist  submitted a claim 
for treatment on my behalf on 3 February 2012 on the basis of his diagnosis for PTSD.  Prior 
to the application by  I was not advised by DVA and did not know about the DVA 
White Card.   told me that it had taken him five phone calls to DVA to ascertain 
whereabouts on the DVA website he could access the application form. 
 
A letter I received from DVA dated 16 March 2012 states that “Approval has been given for 
you to receive treatment for anxiety disorder at the expense of the Department with effect 
from 20 May 2001,” and that a White Card would be forthcoming.  The Department ignored 
the PTSD diagnosed by , even though, as stated in  afore mentioned letter, 
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“Whether or not an injury or disease is present in a particular case and, if it is, the appropriate 
diagnosis of that injury or disease, is a matter for medical opinion”. 
 
It is interesting that DVA continue to privilege the diagnosis of , made on the basis of 
one consultation, and, on his own admission, offered in the absence of significant and crucial 
information, over that of  who has had numerous consultations with me since I 
started seeing him in February 2012.  Further, despite the outstanding information requested 
by  subsequently being submitted by me, DVA has not sought to have him revisit his 
diagnosis. 
 

In May 2012, DVA received a request on your behalf from your treating psychiatrist,  
, for a CPAP machine for treatment of sleep apnoea. This request was not 

approved because you do not have eligibility for treatment of sleep apnoea and because 
a psychiatrist is not an eligible prescriber of CPAP machines. I understand that both you 
and  (sic) were advised in writing of this at the time. 

 
It does happen from time to time that a veteran will seek treatment at DVA expense for a 
condition that has not been accepted as service-related. In such circumstances, the only 
way to extend eligibility is to lodge a claim for disability pension and medical treatment 
under the VEA in respect of that condition. Should the veteran not wish to delay treatment 
pending the successful outcome of such a claim, he or she will have no choice but to 
incur the expense and seek reimbursement from DVA at a later date.  

 
With regard to the matter of the CPAP machine, DVA seems intent on, once again, 
deliberately missing the point of the request.  The request was made on my behalf by  
on the basis that it was part of my treatment for my mental health condition because 
sleeping well is a crucial aspect of improving mental health.  In fact, a number of brochures 
published by DVA attest to this fact. 
 
When I contacted DVA (Adelaide office) to follow up on  request, they denied all 
knowledge of having received his letter, which had been sent by facsimile transmission to 

, RAP Division.  I contacted  office and they obliged by sending the 
letter again.  I waited in the DVA office until they confirmed it had been received.  In the 
meantime, the staff member at the reception desk had given me a Claim for Disability Pension 
form and told me to complete that as part of my request.  I tried at length to explain to him 
that I did not want to claim sleep apnoea as a service related injury and had no intention of 
wasting everybody’s time by doing so.  Rather, I wanted to be able to claim treatment for 
sleep apnoea as part of my mental health treatment, for the reasons stated above.   
 
The situation became increasingly distressing and frustrating and I eventually had to leave the 
office, leaving my wife to deal with the matter.  She asked to speak to a supervisor and was 
eventually seen by  (a manager) and .  She had a lengthy conversation with 

and  explaining my situation and reiterating the point that the request was being 
made on the basis that it was part of the treatment for my accepted condition and not as a 
claim for a service related condition.  and  acknowledged this point of view, but 
said it was highly probable that any request in this regard would be denied because the staff 
involved would not be able to see the correlation.  gave my wife a form for completion 
by my sleep physician and  made the offer that if I were to bring the completed form 
into her, she would forward it to the relevant division with DVA, with a supportive comment 
as to why it should be approved. 
 
In the meantime,  letter of 3 May 2012 appears to have been forwarded to RAP 
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Queensland.  , Client Services, replied most promptly on 16 May 2012 
declining the request.  Her letter did not advise that  was not an approved prescriber 
for CPAP machines.  She did, however, cite the National Schedule of Equipment as 
specifying “which prescribers are eligible to prescribe the items listed”.  If DVA believes this 
constitutes advising  and I that he is not considered eligible to prescribe CPAP as a 
treatment then they are sadly mistaken.  I was not given a copy of that Schedule, nor was I 
told where I might be able to access a copy.  I was also, once again, given what now appears 
to be the stock standard response that I should lodge a claim to have sleep apnoea recognised 
as service related.  As I have said previously, this would have been a futile exercise, because 
it is not service related.  Copies of these letters are attached. 
 
Given the state of my mental health and the increased distress this specific matter was causing 
me, both my wife and I decided this particular battle should be deferred and pursued at a later 
date.  Several months latter,  called and spoke to my wife.  She told my wife she was 
leaving her current position within DVA, and was following up on outstanding matters prior 
to her departure.  She asked if I had taken the matter further, and my wife said no.   
advised that if I wanted to proceed it would be best to contact either , National 
Manager of RAP, in Melbourne, or , the Assistant Director of R & C.  Having 
no faith in any assistance DVA purports to offer, I have chosen not to do so thus far.   
 

It was indeed open to DVA in 2002 and again in 2011 to have extended eligibility to you 
for treatment of your anxiety disorder, and it is regrettable that this was not done. This 
was noted in March 2012 when determining your formal application for this treatment, 
and it was in view of this that your eligibility was backdated to 20 May 2001, three months 
prior to your original claim.  

 
The statement that “it is regrettable” DVA failed to advise me of my eligibility for treatment 
of my condition under the White Card facility is trite and offensive.  In my view it is has been 
extremely detrimental to my physical and mental health and in this regard DVA have been 
exceptionally negligent. 
 
In 2002  advised DVA that: 
 

“I would recommend that Mr. Lawler attend a Psychiatrist for psychotherapy and 
psychotropic medication. … He would also benefit from seeing a Psychologist or 
attending the Vietnam Veteran’s Counselling Service.” 

And 
“Given that Mr. Lawler has yet to receive the benefit of psychiatric treatment I 

would take a conservative approach and rate his current mental state a 
“temporary”.  Should there be no change with eight to ten months of psychiatric 
treatment I would consider his psychiatric state to be “permanent”. 

 
If DVA had advised me that they could assist with treatment, I would have taken it.  
However, they did not, and my mental health has deteriorated further and my quality of life is 
accordingly reduced and my disability is now permanent.   
 
When I received the letter from DVA regarding the grant of the White Card I took the date of 
20 May 2001 noted therein to be a typographical error, as it made no sense otherwise.  Even 
though  letter confirms that this date is indeed correct, it remains unclear as to what 
effect the back dating of my eligibility for a White Card is intended to have, as it is clearly not 
possible for me to retrospectively seek treatment and, as I have not been able to afford to seek 
treatment in the past, I had no expenses to claim.   
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 discusses in his report of 23/11/2011 the criminal assault that took place upon me in 

1976, and the consequences of the assault, and comments that the Veterans’ Review Board 
knew of the assault in 2003.  At no point has DVA mentioned, discussed or investigated the 
report of criminal assault and rape.   did not raise the issue of the assault or rape in his 
interview, I did. 
 
Following the letter from your Office and this response to it, the Government of Australia has 
now been notified on five separate occasions of the criminal assault against myself and the 
rape of  (nee ) in 1976, with no result for 36 years. 
 

I understand that it was found on 12 December 2011 that your anxiety disorder and 
alcohol dependence were not service-related. I have been advised that an appeal to the 
Veterans' Review Board (VRB) was lodged on 19 March 2012 and that the VRB is 
awaiting your lodgement of a Certificate of Readiness before proceeding to a hearing.  
 
The Minister has no power to influence decisions made by independent authorities such 
as the Repatriation Commission and its delegates, nor does he have any discretion to 
review or intervene in any individual case. The VRB is now the appropriate forum within 
which to resolve the matter of the relationship of your anxiety disorder and alcohol 
dependence to service.  
 

As you are no doubt aware, part of the appeals process under the Veterans’ Entitlements Act 
is that DVA has the opportunity to review all claims, prior to referral to the VRB.  My file 
indicates that DVA did not take the opportunity this part of the process afforded them to take 
further evidence or to conduct further investigation.  Instead they abdicated their 
responsibility in this regard by choosing not to review my case and referring it to the VRB.  I 
am fully aware that, following DVA’s decision not to review my case, a determination of my 
claim by the VRB is the next step in the claims process specified by the Act.   
 
My previous experience with the VRB in 2003 has shown that the hearings granted to 
veterans are predicated on a significant imbalance of power.  Firstly, the members of the VRB 
are serving or former high ranking officers, which is in itself intimidating, particularly for 
veterans like myself who suffer from mental illness.  Secondly, the VRB also enjoys the 
benefit of legal counsel, as one member of the board is usually a legal practitioner, but 
veterans are denied similar equity in legal representation, by only being allowed to engage the 
services of volunteer, DVA trained, advocates. 
 
My records show that I told the VRB about the assault and possible rape in 2003.  However, 
what is not shown in my records is that my testimony was summarily dismissed by one 
member of the VRB with a flippant comment to the effect of: “I suppose you want to claim 
for that now”.  No further evidence concerning the assault was taken. 
 
As Minister, perhaps you may be able to offer some assurances that, when and if I appear 
before the VRB in relation to my current claim, the VRB will consider all the evidence 
necessary to determine the matter fairly this time.  You may also wish to consider how the 
considerable inequity in the power relationships present in the current process can be 
redressed. 
 
Finally, the most important point I want you to understand, is that DVA seem intent on 
ignoring the fact that the assault I suffered, and the possible rape of  are 
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beyond the scope of the VEA legislation, and that at least one, and quite likely two crimes 
occurred.  In this regards, the Army, the VRB, DVA and now your office, have failed to act 
on the reporting of a crime and failed to act on their duty of care. 

 
In your letter you also refer to the alteration of your medical records, highlighting in 
particular variations in boxes 49 to 51 on copies of the final medical board form 
completed at the time of your discharge from the Australian Army. The Department of 
Defence was asked to investigate your concerns.  
 
I have been advised that your Central Medical Record (CMR) has been reviewed. Boxes 
49 to 51 have been completed on the copy of the final medical board form filed on your 
CMR, and the ticks appear to be similar in nature to the others on that form.  

 
Defence has advised, however, that your CMR contains a letter from Health Records, 
dated 18 May 1981, stating that boxes 49 to 51 were not originally completed, and 
indicating that the documents were returned to the medical centre for completion of this 
section. This implies that this section was completed at a later date. There is no evidence 
to explain why these sections were not completed at the time of the original final medical 
board.  
  
Defence has advised that returning your final medical board documentation to the 
medical centre for completion was appropriate and consistent with the policy of the time. 
In addition, the completion appears to have been undertaken by the same medical officer 
undertaking the final medical board, and within a timeframe to make this completion 
accurate and appropriate.  
 
In view of this, it appears likely that the original copy you received as part of your 
discharge process was a true copy of the final medical board, before the board 
paperwork was returned in order to complete boxes 49 to 51.  

 
I did not receive any copies of my medical records as part of my discharge process.   
 
The copies of my medical and dentals records which I now hold were forwarded to me on 9 
November 2001 by  Australian Defence Force Health Records – Army.  The covering letter 
described these documents as: 

“your Unit Medical Record (UMR) which is a duplicate copy of your Central 
Medical Record (CMR).” 

These documents do not contain a letter dated 18 May 1981 concerning boxes 49 to 51.  The 
ticks that have been placed in those boxes are noticeably different from all of the others on the 
sheet of paper. 
 
If the claim that my final medical board documents were returned to the medical officer 
concerned shortly after my final examination is true, then I question why all copies of the 
documents were not returned for completion (the carbon copies).  The original signature on 
the carbon copies I hold indicate these copies were to be considered as original copies also, 
therefore, if what Defence is claiming is correct, these copies should also have been 
completed. 
 
It is my belief that the letter dated 18 May 1981 does not exist, and if a letter has been 
produced it will be a forgery.  I ask for the original letter of 18 May 1981 to be produced so 
that it can be forensically examined. 
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An analogy to what has happened to me since the assault in 1976 is that I had attempted to 
save another Australian soldier’s life by running onto the battlefield under fire.  Myself and 
the other soldier were seriously wounded.  I lay in the battlefield for 36 years wounded.  
When I called out for help I was fired at with no hope of repatriation. 
 
The incredible truth here is that the enemy who seriously wounded myself and the other 
soldier were other Australian soldiers, who bashed and raped their fellow soldiers. 
 
The absolutely incredible truth here is that when I called out for help and was then fired upon, 
it was by my own country. 
 
So much for the mythology of the Australian digger, who looks out for his mates, used so 
often by Australian Governments for their own benefit. 
 
My grandfather, who fought at Hill 60 with The First Australian Tunnelling Company RAE 
against the Germans in WW1, and my father, who defended Australia’s airfields against the 
Japanese in WW2 in the 43 Battalion AIF, would be dumbfounded, and if they were alive 
today would be appalled to find Australian Governments that did not care about the welfare of 
its service men and women, only about its own “hip pocket” and reputation.  Australian 
Governments’ have lost their moral compasses. 
 
This response from your Office continues the work of DVA in that it is geared toward 
maintaining the practice of providing false information, delays, denials and obfuscation.  
DVA and your Ministry appear determined to deny even the possibility that the assault of 
myself and the rape of  actually occurred.  In particular, they continue to focus 
on reports of me citing different years 1975/1976 for when the assault and rape occurred in an 
attempt to discredit my testimony, and, on the basis of these reports, seek to deny that the 
event took place.   
 
This seems particularly officious and overly pedantic considering the effects that anxiety and 
stress can have on detailed memory.  I admit I do not have a good memory for exact dates, 
however, I have always been able to locate the event within the chronology of my life.  That 
is, it occurred shortly before I married my first wife, which was on 20 August 1976.   
 
Also, there are elements of  report which are inaccurate, but which have been relied 
on by DVA in determining my claim.  For example, , Review Officer, stated that  

“medical service documents don’t confirm a visit to medical officer for treatment 
after your assault.”   

Although  claims in his report of 23/11/11 that I told him I sought medical treatment 
immediately after the assault, this is not true.  At no stage have I ever said I sought treatment 
immediately after the assault.  To the contrary I have always acknowledged that I did not 
seek treatment for my injuries immediately after the assault, nor was I ordered to do so.  The 
attendance upon a medical officer that I told  about was some months after the event, 
and this was told to  during our interview. 
 
The assault I suffered in 1976 at the hands of serving Australian soldiers constitutes a 
Category 1a stressor.  My mental health has deteriorated since then. 
 
The government’s ongoing practices of obfuscation and denial have severely impacted on and 
added to the deterioration of my mental health and as I have said before, these practices 
perpetuate the abuse I have already suffered.  The abuse has now been institutionalised. 
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John Lawler 

 

 
 

 
 
 
2 October  2013 
 
 
 
Senator The Hon Michael Ronaldson 
Minister for Veterans’ Affairs 
Parliament House 
CANBERRA  ACT 2600 
 
 
 
Dear Minister, 
 
I refer to previous correspondence (two previous letters from myself) between myself and the 
office of the former Minister, the Hon. Warren Snowden, MP.   
 
I have received a letter from  , Rehabilitation & Support 
Division, Department of Veterans’ Affairs, dated 10 September 2013, responding to my letter 
to the former Minister dated 3 August 2013.  Copies of these letters are attached.  I have also 
attached, for your information, a copy of a letter I have sent to the Commonwealth 
Ombudsman regarding these matters. 
 
My responses to  letter are set out below.  To make it clear which element of his 
letter I am referring to, I have also incorporated the text of his letter herein, and make my 
comments below the pertinent sections. 
 

Thank you for your further letter of 3 August 2012 (sic) to the Minister for Veterans’ Affairs 
in which you express concern about your dealings with the Department of Veterans’ 
Affairs (DVA) and the handling of your Defence records.  Your correspondence was 
referred to DVA for response.  The Defence matters that you have raised were referred to 
that Department for attention.  
 

I note the advice regarding referral of some matters to Defence, but request information as to 
what those matters are, and when I might expect a response.  Further, I am astonished that a 
letter to an Honourable Minister has been responded to by one of the Departments about 
which I am expressing concern.  The probability of an impartial response seems remote. 
 

With regard to the diagnosis of your claim conditions, you have stated that consultant 
psychiatrist  felt that he was unable to make a clear diagnosis in your case. 
This is not correct.  Having given diagnoses of generalized anxiety disorder and alcohol 
dependence, he stated that “issues of causation are unclear”.  He then declined on this 
basis to provide an assessment of incapacity. 
 

This statement is inaccurate.   qualified the findings of his final report of 23 
November 2011 when he stated that he prefaced his response by noting much of the 
additional information he had requested had not been received from DVA, and further notes 
that his opinion was “based upon a reasonable degree of medical probability”. 
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As I have previously noted, in his report dated 14 October 2011  requested: 
 

… the following information before offering an opinion on diagnosis and causation. 
[emphasis added] 

 
- The details and dates of his drink/driving offences. 
- His military charge sheets and records of any disciplinary issues in the military 

(particularly related to alcohol). 
- Mr. Lawler showed me a document which indicates a chronology of events and I 

would like to see this. 
- His medical records from the army (he said he presented to the RAP in relation to 

symptoms which he attributed to the assault). 
- His drug and alcohol questionnaire (from this claim and the last claim). 
-  report from 1983. 
- Reports, notes or letters from  
- Any information from  
- Mr. Lawler’s various claim forms. 
- The determination from the Veterans’ Review Board in relation to Mr. Lawler’s 

various claims.” 
 
As I state in my previous letter, and as noted above, in his report of 23 November 2011  

 writes: 
 

“7.  DIAGNOSIS 

I preface my response by noting that you have forwarded some of the information 
to me that I requested to see but not all of the information and in particular I have 
not seen the following [emphasis added] 

- The details and dates of his drink/driving offences. 
- His military charge sheets and records of any disciplinary issues in the 

military (particularly related to alcohol). 
- Mr. Lawler showed me a document which indicated a chronology of events 

and I would like to see this. 
- His drug and alcohol questionnaire (from this claim and last claim). 
-  report from 1983. 
- Reports, notes or letters from  
- Any information from   

 
 clearly states the diagnosis he has provided has been given in the absence of 

significant information he requested about my mental health conditions. 
 
I held this outstanding information which  had requested, but, as I have previously 
advised, the Claims Officer dealing with my case,  of DVA, never asked me for 
the information held by me, and had only provided  with some of the information he 
had requested.   
 
As I have previously noted, the information that  requested from DVA contained 
important information concerning the criminal assault upon me, the rape of , 
the subsequent effects on my mental health and the eventual diagnosis of my PTSD by  
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And I state again, that despite  advising  that his diagnosis was offered in 
the absence of this information, she chose to determine my claim on the basis of an 
incomplete assessment, rather than taking the time and care to contact me and request that I 
provide the information  had requested.  In fact, she acknowledges she did not 
provide all of the information  requested, on page 2 of her letter dated 12 December 
2011 wherein she writes that: 
 

 provided a second report, dated 23 November 2011, which was prepared 
without reference to particular information…” (emphasis added). 

 
She further claims that this information “was unable to be obtained.”  I reiterate my previous 
statement that she was unable to obtain this information because she did not ask me for it” 
 
More importantly, I was not aware that  required this additional information to make 
an informed diagnosis until I made a Freedom of Information Application for access to my 
DVA file, and was able to read a full copy of his reports and then forwarded the information 
through my RSL advocate to DVA. 

 
The completion of alcohol and smoking questionnaires is not required in every case.  An 
applicant for benefits will be asked to complete a questionnaire only if by doing so they 
will provide information that is necessary and otherwise unavailable.  Details of your 
alcohol consumption were provided by  in his 2002 report, and at not stage have 
you lodged a claim for a smoking-related condition.   

 
 obviously thought alcohol questionnaires were necessary in my case as he made a 

direct request that he be provided with alcohol questionnaires from this claim and my 
previous claim.  Further, the reference in relation to alcohol, made by  in his 2002 
report consists of two sentences, which cannot be considered to be “details” of my alcohol 
condition.  Finally, an alcohol questionnaire was clearly required in my case because in a 
letter dated 11 July 2012, DVA eventually requested I complete one, which I did. 
 
Also, the increase in my consumption of cigarettes increased significantly between enlistment 
and discharge and in particular in the year following the assault.  This is evident in my 
discharge medical exam of 1981which notes consumption of 50+ cigarettes a day.  This 
increase is evidence of the deterioration of my mental health. 
 

Further investigations have revealed that DVA did receive a request to fund dental 
treatment from your provider , dated 6 June 2012.  I apologise for DVA’s 
oversight and the subsequent advice in the Chief of Staff’s letter of 26 July 2013.   

 
I note the apology from DVA.  Considering I provided the Chief of Staff, , with 
copies of the relevant correspondence, I believe  comment that DVA have 
undertaken “further investigations” is inaccurate, and an overstatement.  It claims credit for 
DVA’s actions where none is due. 
 

Unfortunately, I am unable to comment on the advice you received from a DVA staff 
member about your entitlement to dental treatment.  If your dental issue is linked to your 
mental health conditions, then payment for dental treatment may be possible.  For this to 
occur it would be necessary for you to have your mental health condition accepted by 
DVA as being caused by your service and your dental condition being subsequent to that 
condition.   
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The point of my request regarding dental treatment was the same as my request regarding a 
CPAP machine, however, DVA are intent on making the same incorrect argument.  That is, 
treatment is only available if the condition is service related.  Which, based on the information 

 provides further on in his letter, with regards to the funding of a CPAP machine, 
is not the case. 
 
The request for assistance with dental treatment was made on the basis that it was part of my 
treatment for my mental health condition.  I grind my teeth because of my mental health 
condition, and my teeth have been damaged because I grind my teeth.  Further my mental 
health deteriorates, because my anxiety levels increase when my physical health, including 
my dental health, is poor.  If my teeth were treated my mental health would improve.  
 
Therefore, dental treatment is part of treating my mental health condition, and treatment for 
my mental health condition is covered by the White Card and does not require to be service 
related.  Treatment for my mental health condition is covered by the White Card regardless of 
whether or not it is service related. It is not contingent upon having my mental health 
condition accepted by DVA as being caused by my service, as  claims in the 
paragraph cited above. 
 
If DVA are genuinely interested in assisting veterans who suffer from mental health 
conditions then they need to change their approach and acknowledge that treatment of mental 
health disorders requires an holistic approach and is not confined to medication, or psychiatric 
counselling. They also need to train their staff accordingly, particularly those taking telephone 
or face to face enquiries. 
 

The decision to extend eligibility for treatment in respect of anxiety disorder rather than 
post traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) appears to have been made on the basis of the 
weight of evidence before the delegate at the time.  Although consultant psychiatrist  

 had provided a brief statement that you suffered from PTSD, DVA held three 
detailed reports from  suggesting otherwise.   

 
The statement that “The decision to extend eligibility in respect of anxiety disorder rather than 
post traumatic stress disorder” is ludicrous.  The writer appears to be saying that if I suffered 
from anxiety disorder and post traumatic stress disorder that I would only be treated for one 
disorder and not both.  It is not an and/or argument. 
 
As I have stated previously, the White Card I have been issued was not forthcoming until my 
treating psychiatrist  submitted an application for treatment on my behalf on 3 
February 2012 on the basis of his diagnosis for PTSD.    completed the form 
Application for Health Care in Respect of Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) in its 
entirety, providing the information specified, and submitted it to DVA.  The section of the 
form Diagnostic Report – Report Detail is specific and succinct about the information 
required from the treating Psychiatrist.  It asks a question requiring a “Yes” or “No” answer 
and provides four lines for the treating Psychiatrist to add further details and “specify ICD 
codes where possible”.  Nowhere on this form is the treating Psychiatrist asked to provide any 
further information.  Further, the form requires the diagnosis and application to be made by 
the treating Psychiatrist.   was not, and is not, my treating psychiatrist.  My treating 
psychiatrist is .  A copy of this application is attached, for your information. 
 
Further, total assessment was made on the basis of one consultation for forty 
minutes, which was undertaken in a medico legal context, on behalf of his client DVA.  As 
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 notes, on page 6 of his report dated 23 November 2011: 
 
“There are significant differences between the medico-legal arena and a clinical setting 
that relate to formulating a psychiatric diagnosis.” 

 
Also, despite the outstanding information requested by  subsequently being submitted 
by me (forwarded via my advocate ), DVA has 
not sought to have him revisit his diagnosis.  At that time I also forwarded correspondence 
from  (letter dated 17 August 2011), my VVCS counsellor,  (letter 
dated 28 June 2011) and my GP,  (letter dated 29 July 2011), advising that I 
suffered from PTSD.  A full and comprehensive report from  dated 6 May 2013 
confirming his diagnosis of PTSD has also been provided. 
 
In addition, the diagnosis of PTSD has been further confirmed by PTSD psychiatrist,  

, and clinical psychologist , of the Repatriation General 
Hospital, Daw Park, South Australia.   and  confirmed this diagnosis 
during their assessment of me on 23 September 2013 for three hours, for inclusion in their 
Post Traumatic Stress Disorder Program.  Clinical Co-ordinator  has since 
advised by telephone that I have been accepted for the program which is to commence on 14 
October 2013. 
 
If, as  suggests, it was  diagnosis which determined my eligibility for 
treatment under a White Card (Specific Condition) why was I not issued with a White Card 
subsequent to his reports in 2002 or in 2011?  Why was not it not until  submitted his 
diagnosis that a White Card was issued, from his request? 
 
I reiterate my previous observation that DVA have deliberately privileged a diagnosis by  

, over that of my treating psychiatrist,  and other professionals.  I believe DVA 
has chosen to issue a White card for anxiety disorder based on  incomplete 
diagnosis because  report is more favourable to their position of wishing to 
determine that my mental health condition is not related to service. 
 
All of the other six professionals who have assessed me have stated that my PTSD is due to 
the assault upon me in 1976. 
 
I also note that  has chosen not to respond to my comment that the reasoning 
behind backdating my eligibility for a White Card is unclear.  Minister, would you please 
ascertain and advise why my eligibility for a White Card has been back dated to 20 May 
2001, and how that might be of benefit to me? 
 

It was clear that the request by  for a CPAP machine was made with the 
treatment of your anxiety symptoms primarily in mind.  Be that as it may, a CPAP 
machine can only be provided if an appropriate medical specialist recommends it as 
treatment for sleep apnoea.  In such cases an appropriate specialist is a respiratory 
physician, a respiratory clinic or sleep centre, a physician or an ear, nose and throat 
specialist. 

 
 statement that it was “clear” the request for a CPAP machine was “made with the 

treatment of your anxiety symptoms primarily in mind” contradicts the statements made 
previously advising that I was not eligible for assistance with the supply of a CPAP machine 
because my sleep apnoea had not been accepted as a service related condition.  It contradicts 
the statement by  in his letter dated 2 May 2013, wherein he writes: 
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“This request was not approved because you do not have eligibility for treatment of 
sleep apnoea …” [not service related] 

 
and 

“It does happen from time to time that a veteran will seek treatment at DVA expense for 
a condition that has not been accepted as service-related [emphasis added]. In such 
circumstances, the only way to extend eligibility is to lodge a claim for disability 
pension and medical treatment under the VEA in respect of that condition.” 

 
It also contradicts the original letter I received from , DVA dated 16 May 2012, 
wherein she states: 
 

“In examining the request it is noted you are a white cardholder and you do not have an 
accepted disability (sleep apnoea) [emphasis added] that relates to a clinical need for 
the supply of a CPAP machine. Based on this information it has been determined that 
you currently do not meet the Department's criteria for the supply of CPAP equipment.” 

 
I am forwarding a copy of the report from my sleep study, conducted by  on 
28 October 2011, and a letter from , dated 25 June 2012, advising that a CPAP 
machine would assist with my mental health condition by improving my sleep.  I did not 
forward these documents to DVA previously because, as I advised in my previous letter of 3 
August 2013, I had been told that a CPAP machine would only be funded if my sleep apnoea 
was service related.  Would you please arrange for the sleep study report and letter from  

to be forwarded to the relevant department and advise them that I seek approval of 
costs for treatment with respect for the sleep study (to determine the type of CPAP machine 
which would best suit me, and cost for the purchase of a CPAP machine, associated 
equipment, consultations and ongoing costs of associated consumables. 
 

You have questioned why no action has been taken in relation to your allegation that you 
were assaulted during service.  This is a matter for the relevant law enforcement 
authorities.  The role of DVA and the Veterans’ Review Board (VRB) in this matter is 
limited to that of considering your eligibility for benefits under the Veterans’ Entitlements 
Act 1986 (VEA)  

 
I am not surprised that  has chosen to respond to my concerns by stating the purely 
legal obligations of DVA and the VRB.  Even if pursuing the matter of a criminal assault was 
not within the jurisdiction of the VRB and DVA one might have thought the individuals who 
became aware of my situation may have felt some ethical or moral responsibility to refer me 
to the appropriate body or report the crimes.  However, they chose to do and say nothing.  The 
assault and rape were reported in 1976 to a superior officer and I was then interviewed by the 
Military Police the next day.  The Military Police then hid the crimes.  I believed that the 
DVA and the VRB should have reported the crimes when I reported them to those bodies. 
Instead DVA and the VRB have hidden the crimes as did the Military Police thirty seven 
years ago.  DART has now taken up my case and will involve the Federal and State Police in 
the investigation of the assault and rape.  The fraudulent alteration of my medical records, 
assault and rape has also been reported to the South Australian Police, and a statement 
recorded, and I have been referred to the S.A. Police Fraud Squad and the New South Wales 
Criminal Investigation Squad. 
 

There is no onus on the Repatriation Commission to review any matter prior to it being 
considered, upon appeal, by the VRB.  When the Repatriation Commission does 
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intervene, it is generally because compelling new evidence has become available. 
 
I note  comments, and simply reiterate my previous statement that, even though a 
substantial body of additional evidence was submitted to DVA (which included most of the 
outstanding information sought by ), DVA chose not to conduct a review.  It is my 
view that the additional evidence should have been referred to  for a review of his 
diagnosis, in light of the information he had requested having been received.   
 

I note your concern that some members of the VRB, an independent statutory tribunal, 
are former high-ranking officers and that this can be intimidating.  The aim and purpose of 
the VRB is to provide a means of review that is fair, just, informal and quick in an 
environment which ensures respect for the service of applicants and dignity in the 
conduct of proceedings. 
 
Members of the VRB have, through the Council of Australasian Tribunals, participated in 
training sessions concerning communication with vulnerable clients.  Further training was 
provided to VRB members at a National VRB conference in August 2013.  In addition, the 
VRB can also arrange all female or all male panels to hear sensitive cases.  Advocates 
have been advised at advocates’ forums that an applicant or representative can contact 
the registrar in their state to request such a panel.  

 
I note  comments regarding communications training undertaken by members of 
the VRB.  Nevertheless the power imbalance remains.  In addition, Minister, I draw to your 
attention, the fact that the information  has provided with regards to the VRB 
arranging all female or all male panels if requested was not provided to me when I lodged my 
appeal, nor does it appear on the VRB website. 
 

The VEA does indeed prohibit people with legal qualification from representing veterans 
at VRB hearings.  This restriction was brought in to prevent appeal hearings becoming 
overly adversarial, technical and resource intensive.  Applicants are of course permitted 
to consult lawyers prior to their hearing.  Written submissions are accepted by the VRB 
for consideration as evidence.  

 
I state, again, VRB hearings are underpinned by a significant imbalance of power in that the 
Senior Member of the panel is a lawyer, thereby providing the panel, by default, with the 
benefit of legal counsel at the hearing, whereas veterans and their advocates are not. 
 

It is important that applicants for benefits on the basis of a relationship between service 
and a particular medial condition be prepared for their claim to be carefully scrutinised.  
This is not because of any doubt with regard to the veracity of any individual claim, but in 
order that the integrity of the Repatriation system be maintained.  

 
I do not have any problem with the facts of my case being scrutinised.  My concern is that 
DVA did not take the time or care to consider all the facts of my case, chose not to obtain 
further evidence for me that would support my claim, and relied upon taking elements of  

 report out of context in order to determine my claim as not being service related.  
 

You have asked that consideration be given to an exhibition of your art works, copies of 
which were included with your letter.  DVA does not administer any programs that could 
make this possible.  
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Despite  advice that DVA does not administer any programs that would assist with 
staging an exhibition of my art work, which relates to my PTSD, my own investigations have 
revealed that, in collaboration with an Ex-Service Organisation, an application could be made 
for funding of an exhibition through a Veteran and Community Grant.  This is something I 
will be investigation further, therefore, Minister, any additional information or assistance you 
could provide would be invaluable. 
 

You have expressed concern that you will not be able to claim compensation after turning 
65.  This is not correct.  Compensation in respect of incapacity arising from service-
related disabilities can be claimed and paid at any age.  It is certainly the case, however, 
that disability pension is not usually granted at the Special Rate or the Intermediate Rate 
to veterans who have turned 65.  A DVA Factsheet with further information is enclosed.  
Should your current appeal to the VRB be successful you will be considered for disability 
pension at these rates regardless of your age.  This is because the claim before the VRB 
was lodged on 31 August 2011, at which time you were aged 62. 
 

I note  advice with respect to my pending 65th birthday.  
 
Finally I note that  letter does not address the matters raised in my previous 
correspondence with regards to the fraudulent alteration of my medical records.  I would 
appreciate a detailed response regarding this matter. 
 
I have found it appalling that DVA, the body responsible for the wellbeing of veterans, treats 
those with diagnosed mental health illnesses such as myself, with such contempt.  Instead of 
assisting us, DVA continues to distort and misrepresent the facts of my case which shows the 
extent to which DVA will go to hide the evidence of criminal assault and rape within The 
Australian Defence Force.  Nothing has changed. 
 
DVA has never interviewed me. 
 
I look forward to your reply. 
Without prejudice 

 
 
John Lawler 
 
 
cc: The Hon Tony Abbott, MP 
 Prime Minister 
 Parliament House 
 Canberra  ACT  26000 
 
 The Commonwealth Ombudsman 
 GPO Box 442 
 Canberra  ACT  2601 
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Attachments:  
1. Letter to Minister for Veterans’ Affairs – 3/08/13 
2. Letter from Department of Veterans’ Affairs – 10/09/13 
3. Letter to Commonwealth Ombudsman – 2/10/13 
4. Application for Health Care in Respect of Post Traumatic Stress Disorder – 4/02/12 
5. Sleep Study conducted 28/10/11: Report from  – 10/11/11 
6. Letter from  – 25/06/12 
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28 November 2013 
 
 
 
Senator The Hon Michael Ronaldson 
Minister for Veterans’ Affairs 
Parliament House 
CANBERRA  ACT  2600 
 
 
 
Dear Minister, 
 
I am writing to you with disappointment that my previous correspondence concerning the 
following issues remains unaddressed since 2 May 2013. 
 

• Fraudulent alteration of my official documents; 
• Illegal and criminal behaviour towards me; 
• Hiding of serious criminal assault and rape on three occasions over a thirty six year 

period; 
• Miserably failing in their duty of care, both legally and morally, towards me on a 

continuous basis. 
 
On the 2 October 2013 I again raised these issues for your information and action. 
 
You replied on the 23 October stating that an investigation will commence concerning the 
issues noted above. 
 
On the 14 November I contacted  of DVA whom I understand is in charge 
of the investigation.  I was informed by her that the investigation into these serious issues had 
not begun because she was waiting for the results of my interview with the VRB to arrive 
before sending both results to your office. 
 
On three occasions I had to explain to  that the results of the VRB were not 
contingent upon her beginning the investigation into the above issues.  I had to insist that she 
begin the investigation because the crimes committed 36 years ago have nothing to do with 
the illegal and criminal actions by the DVA in recent years. 
 
Her reasoning was that she felt that instead of sending the information singularly she could 
send both together to your office, but did comment that the investigation could have started 
and the results sent through earlier. 
 
Sir, I suffer from Post Traumatic Stress Disorder and am being treated at the Repatriation 
Hospital in Adelaide for eight weeks. 
 
I am certain that you would understand that the continued immoral, illegal and criminal 
behaviour towards me by DVA is reprehensible and is continuing to exacerbate my condition. 
 

Annexure 1 - Correspondence with Minister for Veterans’ Affairs 
John Lawler

Suicide by veterans and ex-service personnel
Submission 7



- 2 - 
 
An inquiry into the above events should have begun 11 years ago when I again brought to the 
attention of the authorities (the VRB) the criminal assault against myself and the rape of 

 
 
These crimes were ignored by the VRB back then and also the DVA ever since. 
The DVA has gone to extreme measures to try to ignore these issues.  This includes the 
excuse by  of only needing to send one email instead of two.  It would appear 
that the decisions of a minor public servant outweigh the directions given by the Minister for 
Veteran Affairs  
 
In my last email to you I stated that I had contacted the South Australian Police concerning 
these issues.  I now intend to take these matters to the SA Police Fraud Squad. 
 
Yours faithfully, 
 

 
John Lawler 
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John Lawler 

 
 
 
 
 

2 September 2013 
 
 
 
Commonwealth Ombudsman 
GPO Box 442 
CANBERRA   ACT  2601 
 
 
 
 
Dear Ombudsman, 
 
I refer to your letter of 13 August 2013. 
 
I am writing to you to bring to your attention that in your letter you failed to deal with all of the items 
noted in the letters that were delivered, faxed and emailed to The Commonwealth Ombudsman, dated 
the 17/05 2013, 22/07/2013 (attention ), and 3/08/2013 (attention:  ), 
respectively. 
 
You failed to deal with entirely the ‘Fraudulent alteration of my official documents’, even though you 
were presented with the evidence. 
 
Even though you were presented with the evidence concerning the sleep apnoea and dental treatment 
issues, you failed to recognise that both of the treatments were being claimed as necessary for my 
anxiety treatment which is allowed under my white card. 
 
It is apparent that the evidence presented to your office by myself has been ignored, and incorrect 
information received from DVA has been regurgitated as being fact.  This brings the Commonwealth 
Ombudsman’s impartiality into question.  I have not outlined section by section my evidence which 
repudiates your comments but will ask your office to read the evidence as presented in the three 
letters which you hold. 
 
I look forward to hearing from you regarding these matters in the near future.  
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 
John Lawler 
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John Lawler 

 

 
 

 
 
3 August 2013 
 
The Hon Warren Snowden, MP 
Minister for Veterans’ Affairs 
Parliament House 
CANBERRA  ACT 2600 
 
 
 
Dear Minister, 
 
I refer to a letter from your Chief of Staff, , dated 26 July 2013, responding to 
my letter to you dated 2 May 2013. 
 
My responses to  letter are set out below.  To make it clear which element of his 
letter I am referring to, I have also incorporated the text of his letter herein, and make my 
comments below the pertinent sections. 
 

Thank you for your email of 2 May 2013 to the Minister for Veterans' Affairs and other 
addressees, concerning your dealings with the Department of Veterans' Affairs (DVA). 
This matter falls within the portfolio responsibilities of Minister Snowdon, who has asked 
me to respond on his behalf. I apologise for the delay in replying.  
 

I note the apology regarding the delay in replying, but would like to bring to your attention, 
that until I received  letter, I had not received any acknowledgement from your 
office that my correspondence had been received. 
 

For compensation to be payable under the Veterans' Entitlements Act 1986 (VEA) there 
must be an injury or disease as defined under the Act. Only when it has been established 
that an injury or disease is present can the relationship of the claimed signs and 
symptoms to service be considered.  
 
Whether or not an injury or disease is present in a particular case and, if it is, the 
appropriate diagnosis of that injury or disease, is a matter for medical opinion. As it was 
the opinion of consultant psychiatrist  that the conditions you claimed in 
2011 as "depression, stress and anxiety" were generalised anxiety disorder and alcohol 
dependence, they were from that point onwards referred to in that way by DVA.  

 
As I claimed previously in the letter forwarded to you and others dated 2nd May 2013.  “On 
the 18/6/2011 I applied for a Disability Pension for “depression, anxiety and stress” which the 
DVA acknowledged.  I was then refused my application for “anxiety disorder and alcohol 
dependence”.  DVA had changed my claim without advising or consulting with me and (their) 
claim was forwarded to The Veterans Review Board. 
 
The diagnosis in the report dated 14/10/2011 by  (DVA psychiatrist) stated: 
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“17.  DIAGNOSIS 

 Given the history Mr. Lawler gave to me on this occasion was quite different to 
what he gave me last time and given there appears to be quite a considerable 
amount of information which would assist me I would like to see the following 
information before offering an opinion on diagnosis and causation. 

 
- The details and dates of his drink/driving offences. 
- His military charge sheets and records of any disciplinary issues in the military 

(particularly related to alcohol). 
- Mr. Lawler showed me a document which indicates a chronology of events and I 

would like to see this. 
- His medical records from the army (he said he presented to the RAP in relation to 

symptoms which he attributed to the assault). 
- His drug and alcohol questionnaire (from this claim and the last claim). 
-  report from 1983. 
- Reports, notes or letters from  
- Any information from  
- Mr. Lawler’s various claim forms. 
- The determination from the Veterans’ Review Board in relation to Mr. Lawler’s 

various claims.” 
 
The Claims Officer dealing with my case,  never asked me for the information 
held by me that  requested.   
 
After I had lodged my application for appeal to the VRB, I had several confusing and 
distressing phone calls with Claims Office , asking when DVA/VRB would 
request the additional information I held.  My distress reached such a point that my wife had 
to eventually speak to a supervisor, , who advised her it was appropriate for 
me to submit whatever additional evidence I held to support my claim, at this stage of the 
process.  He also acknowledged that the Application for Review form was misleading and 
confusing in that it did not provide information to this effect.   apologised for 
the manner in which I had been treated. 
 
Further, at no time did DVA request that I complete an Alcohol Questionnaire, although I 
have since been told this should be standard procedure.  It was not until my 2011 claim was 
appealed to the Veteran’s Review Board that I was asked to complete this document.  At no 
time have I been asked to complete a Smoking Questionnaire. 
 
A following letter on the 23/11/2011 from  claims: 
 

“7.  DIAGNOSIS 
 

I preface my response by noting that you have forwarded some of the information 
to me that I requested to see but not all of the information and in particular I have 
not seen the following: 
 
- The details and dates of his drink/driving offences. 
- His military charge sheets and records of any disciplinary issues in the 

military (particularly related to alcohol). 
- Mr. Lawler showed me a document which indicated a chronology of events 

and I would like to see this. 
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- His drug and alcohol questionnaire (from this claim and last claim). 
-  report from 1983. 
- Reports, notes or letters from . 
- Any information from  

 
Further, on page 6.  states: 
 

“When taking into account the factors I have just discussed, it is my clinical 
opinion, based upon a reasonable degree of medical probability that Mr. Lawler is 
suffering from a Generalized Anxiety Disorder.  His Alcohol Dependence is in 
remission. 
 
9. DISABILITY 
 
Given that the facts are currently unclear which means that issues of causation are 
far from clear I will defer a disability rating until the decision-maker advises me 
what are the facts in this case.” 

 
Clearly  felt he was unable to make a clear diagnosis because critical information 
that he had requested from DVA was not forthcoming.  The information that  
requested from DVA contained important information concerning the criminal assault upon 
me, the rape of , the subsequent effects on my mental health and the eventual 
diagnosis of my PTSD by .  Despite  advising  that his 
diagnosis was offered in the absence of this information, she chose to determine my claim on 
the basis of an incomplete assessment. 
 

I understand that you hold a White Repatriation Health Card for Specific Conditions -also 
known simply as a White Card -that entitles you to treatment for your anxiety disorder 
only. I have been advised that you have no eligibility for dental treatment and that DVA 
has no record of you seeking such treatment at DVA's expense at any time.   

 
The claim that DVA holds no record of me seeking assistance with dental treatment is not 
true.  My enquiries about assistance with dental treatment started on a date I did not record, 
and with a member of DVA staff who did not offer her name, and whose name I did not 
request.  I was told that DVA would contribute an amount, which I recall as being $61, 
toward the cost of a dental examination.  I was also told that if that examination revealed 
damaged to my teeth arising from my mental health condition, for example damage caused by 
tooth grinding, DVA would cover the cost of the treatment.  On the basis of this advice I 
attended , who completed an examination.   then wrote to DVA 
on 6 June 2012 seeking approval of the cost of his proposed treatment.  DVA denied this 
request in a letter dated 21 June 2012 from , Medical and Allied Health Services, 
to .  Following this I personally paid  account for the examination.  
Copies of these letters and  account are attached. 
 
The White Card was not forthcoming until my psychiatrist  submitted a claim 
for treatment on my behalf on 3 February 2012 on the basis of his diagnosis for PTSD.  Prior 
to the application by  I was not advised by DVA and did not know about the DVA 
White Card.   told me that it had taken him five phone calls to DVA to ascertain 
whereabouts on the DVA website he could access the application form. 
 
A letter I received from DVA dated 16 March 2012 states that “Approval has been given for 
you to receive treatment for anxiety disorder at the expense of the Department with effect 
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from 20 May 2001,” and that a White Card would be forthcoming.  The Department ignored 
the PTSD diagnosed by , even though, as stated in  afore mentioned letter, 
“Whether or not an injury or disease is present in a particular case and, if it is, the appropriate 
diagnosis of that injury or disease, is a matter for medical opinion”. 
 
It is interesting that DVA continue to privilege the diagnosis of , made on the basis of 
one consultation, and, on his own admission, offered in the absence of significant and crucial 
information, over that of  who has had numerous consultations with me since I 
started seeing him in February 2012.  Further, despite the outstanding information requested 
by  subsequently being submitted by me, DVA has not sought to have him revisit his 
diagnosis. 
 

In May 2012, DVA received a request on your behalf from your treating psychiatrist,  
, for a CPAP machine for treatment of sleep apnoea. This request was not 

approved because you do not have eligibility for treatment of sleep apnoea and because 
a psychiatrist is not an eligible prescriber of CPAP machines. I understand that both you 
and  (sic) were advised in writing of this at the time. 

 
It does happen from time to time that a veteran will seek treatment at DVA expense for a 
condition that has not been accepted as service-related. In such circumstances, the only 
way to extend eligibility is to lodge a claim for disability pension and medical treatment 
under the VEA in respect of that condition. Should the veteran not wish to delay treatment 
pending the successful outcome of such a claim, he or she will have no choice but to 
incur the expense and seek reimbursement from DVA at a later date.  

 
With regard to the matter of the CPAP machine, DVA seems intent on, once again, 
deliberately missing the point of the request.  The request was made on my behalf by  
on the basis that it was part of my treatment for my mental health condition because 
sleeping well is a crucial aspect of improving mental health.  In fact, a number of brochures 
published by DVA attest to this fact. 
 
When I contacted DVA (Adelaide office) to follow up on  request, they denied all 
knowledge of having received his letter, which had been sent by facsimile transmission to 

, RAP Division.  I contacted  office and they obliged by sending the 
letter again.  I waited in the DVA office until they confirmed it had been received.  In the 
meantime, the staff member at the reception desk had given me a Claim for Disability Pension 
form and told me to complete that as part of my request.  I tried at length to explain to him 
that I did not want to claim sleep apnoea as a service related injury and had no intention of 
wasting everybody’s time by doing so.  Rather, I wanted to be able to claim treatment for 
sleep apnoea as part of my mental health treatment, for the reasons stated above.   
 
The situation became increasingly distressing and frustrating and I eventually had to leave the 
office, leaving my wife to deal with the matter.  She asked to speak to a supervisor and was 
eventually seen by (a manager) and .  She had a lengthy conversation with 

 and , explaining my situation and reiterating the point that the request was being 
made on the basis that it was part of the treatment for my accepted condition and not as a 
claim for a service related condition.   and  acknowledged this point of view, but 
said it was highly probable that any request in this regard would be denied because the staff 
involved would not be able to see the correlation.   gave my wife a form for completion 
by my sleep physician and  made the offer that if I were to bring the completed form 
into her, she would forward it to the relevant division with DVA, with a supportive comment 
as to why it should be approved. 
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In the meantime,  letter of 3 May 2012 appears to have been forwarded to RAP 
Queensland.  , Client Services, replied most promptly on 16 May 2012 
declining the request.  Her letter did not advise that  was not an approved prescriber 
for CPAP machines.  She did, however, cite the National Schedule of Equipment as 
specifying “which prescribers are eligible to prescribe the items listed”.  If DVA believes this 
constitutes advising  and I that he is not considered eligible to prescribe CPAP as a 
treatment then they are sadly mistaken.  I was not given a copy of that Schedule, nor was I 
told where I might be able to access a copy.  I was also, once again, given what now appears 
to be the stock standard response that I should lodge a claim to have sleep apnoea recognised 
as service related.  As I have said previously, this would have been a futile exercise, because 
it is not service related.  Copies of these letters are attached. 
 
Given the state of my mental health and the increased distress this specific matter was causing 
me, both my wife and I decided this particular battle should be deferred and pursued at a later 
date.  Several months latter,  called and spoke to my wife.  She told my wife she was 
leaving her current position within DVA, and was following up on outstanding matters prior 
to her departure.  She asked if I had taken the matter further, and my wife said no.   
advised that if I wanted to proceed it would be best to contact either , National 
Manager of RAP, in Melbourne, or , the Assistant Director of R & C.  Having 
no faith in any assistance DVA purports to offer, I have chosen not to do so thus far.   
 

It was indeed open to DVA in 2002 and again in 2011 to have extended eligibility to you 
for treatment of your anxiety disorder, and it is regrettable that this was not done. This 
was noted in March 2012 when determining your formal application for this treatment, 
and it was in view of this that your eligibility was backdated to 20 May 2001, three months 
prior to your original claim.  

 
The statement that “it is regrettable” DVA failed to advise me of my eligibility for treatment 
of my condition under the White Card facility is trite and offensive.  In my view it is has been 
extremely detrimental to my physical and mental health and in this regard DVA have been 
exceptionally negligent. 
 
In 2002  advised DVA that: 
 

“I would recommend that Mr. Lawler attend a Psychiatrist for psychotherapy and 
psychotropic medication. … He would also benefit from seeing a Psychologist or 
attending the Vietnam Veteran’s Counselling Service.” 

And 
“Given that Mr. Lawler has yet to receive the benefit of psychiatric treatment I 

would take a conservative approach and rate his current mental state a 
“temporary”.  Should there be no change with eight to ten months of psychiatric 
treatment I would consider his psychiatric state to be “permanent”. 

 
If DVA had advised me that they could assist with treatment, I would have taken it.  
However, they did not, and my mental health has deteriorated further and my quality of life is 
accordingly reduced and my disability is now permanent.   
 
When I received the letter from DVA regarding the grant of the White Card I took the date of 
20 May 2001 noted therein to be a typographical error, as it made no sense otherwise.  Even 
though  letter confirms that this date is indeed correct, it remains unclear as to what 
effect the back dating of my eligibility for a White Card is intended to have, as it is clearly not 
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possible for me to retrospectively seek treatment and, as I have not been able to afford to seek 
treatment in the past, I had no expenses to claim.   
 

 discusses in his report of 23/11/2011 the criminal assault that took place upon me in 
1976, and the consequences of the assault, and comments that the Veterans’ Review Board 
knew of the assault in 2003.  At no point has DVA mentioned, discussed or investigated the 
report of criminal assault and rape.   did not raise the issue of the assault or rape in his 
interview, I did. 
 
Following the letter from your Office and this response to it, the Government of Australia has 
now been notified on five separate occasions of the criminal assault against myself and the 
rape of  (nee ) in 1976, with no result for 36 years. 
 

I understand that it was found on 12 December 2011 that your anxiety disorder and 
alcohol dependence were not service-related. I have been advised that an appeal to the 
Veterans' Review Board (VRB) was lodged on 19 March 2012 and that the VRB is 
awaiting your lodgement of a Certificate of Readiness before proceeding to a hearing.  
 
The Minister has no power to influence decisions made by independent authorities such 
as the Repatriation Commission and its delegates, nor does he have any discretion to 
review or intervene in any individual case. The VRB is now the appropriate forum within 
which to resolve the matter of the relationship of your anxiety disorder and alcohol 
dependence to service.  
 

As you are no doubt aware, part of the appeals process under the Veterans’ Entitlements Act 
is that DVA has the opportunity to review all claims, prior to referral to the VRB.  My file 
indicates that DVA did not take the opportunity this part of the process afforded them to take 
further evidence or to conduct further investigation.  Instead they abdicated their 
responsibility in this regard by choosing not to review my case and referring it to the VRB.  I 
am fully aware that, following DVA’s decision not to review my case, a determination of my 
claim by the VRB is the next step in the claims process specified by the Act.   
 
My previous experience with the VRB in 2003 has shown that the hearings granted to 
veterans are predicated on a significant imbalance of power.  Firstly, the members of the VRB 
are serving or former high ranking officers, which is in itself intimidating, particularly for 
veterans like myself who suffer from mental illness.  Secondly, the VRB also enjoys the 
benefit of legal counsel, as one member of the board is usually a legal practitioner, but 
veterans are denied similar equity in legal representation, by only being allowed to engage the 
services of volunteer, DVA trained, advocates. 
 
My records show that I told the VRB about the assault and possible rape in 2003.  However, 
what is not shown in my records is that my testimony was summarily dismissed by one 
member of the VRB with a flippant comment to the effect of: “I suppose you want to claim 
for that now”.  No further evidence concerning the assault was taken. 
 
As Minister, perhaps you may be able to offer some assurances that, when and if I appear 
before the VRB in relation to my current claim, the VRB will consider all the evidence 
necessary to determine the matter fairly this time.  You may also wish to consider how the 
considerable inequity in the power relationships present in the current process can be 
redressed. 
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Finally, the most important point I want you to understand, is that DVA seem intent on 
ignoring the fact that the assault I suffered, and the possible rape of  are 
beyond the scope of the VEA legislation, and that at least one, and quite likely two crimes 
occurred.  In this regards, the Army, the VRB, DVA and now your office, have failed to act 
on the reporting of a crime and failed to act on their duty of care. 

 
In your letter you also refer to the alteration of your medical records, highlighting in 
particular variations in boxes 49 to 51 on copies of the final medical board form 
completed at the time of your discharge from the Australian Army. The Department of 
Defence was asked to investigate your concerns.  
 
I have been advised that your Central Medical Record (CMR) has been reviewed. Boxes 
49 to 51 have been completed on the copy of the final medical board form filed on your 
CMR, and the ticks appear to be similar in nature to the others on that form.  

 
Defence has advised, however, that your CMR contains a letter from Health Records, 
dated 18 May 1981, stating that boxes 49 to 51 were not originally completed, and 
indicating that the documents were returned to the medical centre for completion of this 
section. This implies that this section was completed at a later date. There is no evidence 
to explain why these sections were not completed at the time of the original final medical 
board.  
  
Defence has advised that returning your final medical board documentation to the 
medical centre for completion was appropriate and consistent with the policy of the time. 
In addition, the completion appears to have been undertaken by the same medical officer 
undertaking the final medical board, and within a timeframe to make this completion 
accurate and appropriate.  
 
In view of this, it appears likely that the original copy you received as part of your 
discharge process was a true copy of the final medical board, before the board 
paperwork was returned in order to complete boxes 49 to 51.  

 
I did not receive any copies of my medical records as part of my discharge process.   
 
The copies of my medical and dentals records which I now hold were forwarded to me on 9 
November 2001 by  Australian Defence Force Health Records – Army.  The covering letter 
described these documents as: 

“your Unit Medical Record (UMR) which is a duplicate copy of your Central 
Medical Record (CMR).” 

These documents do not contain a letter dated 18 May 1981 concerning boxes 49 to 51.  The 
ticks that have been placed in those boxes are noticeably different from all of the others on the 
sheet of paper. 
 
If the claim that my final medical board documents were returned to the medical officer 
concerned shortly after my final examination is true, then I question why all copies of the 
documents were not returned for completion (the carbon copies).  The original signature on 
the carbon copies I hold indicate these copies were to be considered as original copies also, 
therefore, if what Defence is claiming is correct, these copies should also have been 
completed. 
 
It is my belief that the letter dated 18 May 1981 does not exist, and if a letter has been 
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produced it will be a forgery.  I ask for the original letter of 18 May 1981 to be produced so 
that it can be forensically examined. 
 
An analogy to what has happened to me since the assault in 1976 is that I had attempted to 
save another Australian soldier’s life by running onto the battlefield under fire.  Myself and 
the other soldier were seriously wounded.  I lay in the battlefield for 36 years wounded.  
When I called out for help I was fired at with no hope of repatriation. 
 
The incredible truth here is that the enemy who seriously wounded myself and the other 
soldier were other Australian soldiers, who bashed and raped their fellow soldiers. 
 
The absolutely incredible truth here is that when I called out for help and was then fired upon, 
it was by my own country. 
 
So much for the mythology of the Australian digger, who looks out for his mates, used so 
often by Australian Governments for their own benefit. 
 
My grandfather, who fought at Hill 60 with The First Australian Tunnelling Company RAE 
against the Germans in WW1, and my father, who defended Australia’s airfields against the 
Japanese in WW2 in the 43 Battalion AIF, would be dumbfounded, and if they were alive 
today would be appalled to find Australian Governments that did not care about the welfare of 
its service men and women, only about its own “hip pocket” and reputation.  Australian 
Governments’ have lost their moral compasses. 
 
This response from your Office continues the work of DVA in that it is geared toward 
maintaining the practice of providing false information, delays, denials and obfuscation.  
DVA and your Ministry appear determined to deny even the possibility that the assault of 
myself and the rape of  actually occurred.  In particular, they continue to focus 
on reports of me citing different years 1975/1976 for when the assault and rape occurred in an 
attempt to discredit my testimony, and, on the basis of these reports, seek to deny that the 
event took place.   
 
This seems particularly officious and overly pedantic considering the effects that anxiety and 
stress can have on detailed memory.  I admit I do not have a good memory for exact dates, 
however, I have always been able to locate the event within the chronology of my life.  That 
is, it occurred shortly before I married my first wife, which was on 20 August 1976.   
 
Also, there are elements of  report which are inaccurate, but which have been relied 
on by DVA in determining my claim.  For example, , Review Officer, stated that  

“medical service documents don’t confirm a visit to medical officer for treatment 
after your assault.”   

Although  claims in his report of 23/11/11 that I told him I sought medical treatment 
immediately after the assault, this is not true.  At no stage have I ever said I sought treatment 
immediately after the assault.  To the contrary I have always acknowledged that I did not 
seek treatment for my injuries immediately after the assault, nor was I ordered to do so.  The 
attendance upon a medical officer that I told  about was some months after the event, 
and this was told to  during our interview. 
 
The assault I suffered in 1976 at the hands of serving Australian soldiers constitutes a 
Category 1a stressor.  My mental health has deteriorated since then. 
 
The government’s ongoing practices of obfuscation and denial have severely impacted on and 
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added to the deterioration of my mental health and as I have said before, these practices 
perpetuate the abuse I have already suffered.  The abuse has now been institutionalised. 
 
The following artwork has been my attempt at trying to keep myself sane in the face of the 
continuous DVA and Australian Government onslaught against my claim of criminal assault 
and rape within the ADF since 1976. 
 
My challenge to the Australian Government and its delegates is to fund this artwork in 
exhibitions throughout Australia.  The Governments’ involvement in this would go some way 
towards showing other ADF abuse victims and the rest of the people of Australia that the 
Australian Government is serious in its attempting to right the wrongs of the past. 
 
If the Australian Government shows it genuinely cares about the well-being of veterans, by 
being involved in helping soldiers with PTSD to get back on track by expressing themselves 
through art, then it will perhaps find its’ moral compass. 
 
It is imperative that this matter is dealt with before 6 October 2013, the date of my 65th 
birthday.  It is my understanding that after this date my ability to claim compensation is 
prejudiced. 
 
I look forward to your response. 
Without prejudice 

 
 
John Lawler 
 
 
cc: The Hon Kevin Rudd, MP 
 Prime Minister 
 Parliament House 
 Canberra  ACT  26000 
 
 The Commonwealth Ombudsman 
 GPO Box 442 
 Canberra  ACT  2601 
 
Attachments:  
1. Statutory Declaration/Witness Statement by  – 11 June 2013 
2. Report of  – 6 May 2013 
3. Letter from  to , DVA – 3 May 2012 
4. Letter from , DVA to John Lawler – 16 May 2012 
5. Letter from  to , DVA – 7 June 2012 
6. Letter from  to DVA – 6 June 2012 
7. Letter from , DVA, to  – 21 June 2012 
8. Account from  to John Lawler – 26 June 2012 
9. Receipt from  to John Lawler – 2 July 2012 
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10. Letter from ADF Health Records-Army to John Lawler – 9 November 2001 
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John Lawler 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

2 October 2013 
 
 
 
 
Commonwealth Ombudsman 
GPO Box 442 
CANBERRA   ACT  2601 
 
Attention:   
 
 
Dear  
 
I refer to previous correspondence. 
 
Please find attached copies of letters I have sent to the Minister for Veterans’ Affairs (dated 3 
August 2013  and 1 October 2013), and a letter I received from Department of Veterans’ 
Affairs dated 10 September 2013. 
 
It is with great distress that I wish to point out that DVA: 
 
-  Continues to ignore my diagnosis of PTSD 
-  Continues to claim that  was able to make an accurate diagnosis, even 

though, on his own admission, a large amount of significant information had not been 
made available to him from DVA to make a complete diagnosis.  DVA did not ask me for 
the information. 

-  Has now changed its position with regards to my request for a CPAP machine – shifting 
from insisting that the condition requiring CPAP needed to be service related, to now 
claiming they realised the CPAP was for treatment of my mental health condition, but that 
I needed to have the need for the CPAP confirmed by a sleep specialist which I have since, 
obtained but which I have omitted to submit because DVA continued to insist that it 
needed to be service related. 

- Has now adopted the same argument previously put forward about the CPAP machine with 
respect to my request for dental treatment. 

-  Continues to adopt a purely legal standpoint and deny any moral or ethical obligation to 
refer or offer advice to me, as a veteran, with regards to the reporting of the criminal 
assault I suffered at the hands of serving Army personnel. 

 
Likewise, I point out that the VRB: 
 
-  Continues a similar legalistic approach as that of DVA with regards to any action on the 

criminal assault I suffered. 
-  Does not provide Information to veterans that all female or all male panels can be arranged 

to hear sensitive case.  Nor is it sufficient to rely solely on the assumption that volunteer 
advocates will provide that information to veterans as not all veterans use the services of 
an advocate. 
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John Lawler 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
22 July 2013 
 
 
 
The Hon Kevin Rudd MP 
Prime Minister 
Parliament House 
CANBERRA  ACT  2600 
 
 
 
Dear Prime Minister, 
 
On 2 May I wrote to both the Minister for Veterans’ Affairs, Warren Snowden, and the 
Defence Minister, Stephen Smith outlining the following issues.  
 

• Fraudulent alteration of my official documents; 
• Illegal and criminal behaviour towards me; 
• Hiding of serious criminal assault and rape on three occasions over a thirty six year 

period; 
• Miserably failing in their duty of care both legally and morally towards me. 

 
To date I have received no reply, nor even an acknowledgement of my letter, from either 
Minister. 
 
On 17 May I also sought assistance in this regard from the Commonwealth Ombudsman and 
provided them with a copy of the letters I had sent to the ministers, together with a copy of the 
statement I had submitted to DLA Piper Review.  I have attached copies of these documents. 
 
On 20 May I received a telephone call acknowledging my complaint from  Senior 
Investigation Officer with the Commonwealth Ombudsman, and I subsequently received a 
letter of confirmation of the same date. 
 
On or about 13 June I contacted  by telephone to enquire about progress with my 
matter. She advised that she had given the Department of Veterans’ Affairs additional time of 
three weeks to respond to her enquiries because they were also in the process of dealing with 
a “Ministerial” in relation to my file.  
 
I again contacted  on or about 4 July to ascertain whether she had received a response 
from the Department of Veterans’ Affairs.  She advised no reply had been received.  She told 
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me she would follow up on her request and advise me of the outcome when she returned from 
a weeks’ leave on 15 July. 
 
I telephoned the Ombudsman’s Office on 17 July and was advised that  was away on 
sick leave.  I asked to speak to the staff member who was dealing with her work in her 
absence but was told no-one was doing so.  I asked to speak to an immediate or superior 
supervisor and was eventually told that someone would call me back. 
 
On 19 July, I received a telephone call from , who advised that if  was 
still absent this week she would telephone me this morning. 
 
Having heard nothing by midday I telephoned the Ombudsman’s Office and eventually spoke 
to .  She advised me  was still absent on holiday leave and after I again 
asked to speak with a senior supervisor she said that she would speak to someone. 
 
I pointed out that my matter had been with the Ombudsman’s Office for almost 10 weeks and 
that my ongoing claim with the Department of Veterans’ Affairs was potentially being 
prejudiced by these delays. 
 
I again asked to speak to a manager, and this afternoon I have been contacted by  

 Acting Senior Assisting Ombudsman. He told me that the Ombudsman’s office had 
been in contact with the Department of Veteran’s Affairs and had been advised that a 
response had been sent by the Department to  email account a week ago.  However, 
the Ombudsman’s Office was not sure if another staff member would be able to access  

  account in her absence.  If this was the case, the Ombudsman’s Office would contact 
the Department and have the response resent.  He also promised to follow up on my case with 
the relevant staff when he is in Canberra this coming Thursday. 
 
I understand that public servants need to take leave and that winter is a bad time for people 
being sick.  What I fail to understand is why there are no contingencies in place for work to 
continue in their absence. 
 
After thirty six years of Army, DVA and Australian Government Departmental incompetence 
I have had enough. 
 
 
I look forward to receiving your response. 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
John Lawler 
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John Lawler 

 
 
 
 
4 April 2013 
 
 
 
Mark Butler, MP 
15 Semaphore Rd 
SEMAPHORE  SA  5015 
 
 
 
Dear Minister, 
 
It is now six weeks since I spoke to Christine at your office at Semaphore.  Christine emailed 
me on the 27th of Feb showing that you had sent a letter to the Attorney-General on my 
behalf, and stated that you would forward any response received.  I have not received any 
correspondence from your office or the Attorney General and sent you an email on the 20th of 
March which indicated so.  I am again asking if you have received any response from the 
Attorney-General on my behalf.  I explained to Christine at your office that I am a veteran of 
the Australian Army and suffer from PTSD and other medical conditions relating to an assault 
upon myself by five Australian soldiers when I attempted to stop them from raping a female 
soldier at Randwick Barracks in Sydney in 1976.   
 
On the 18/6/2011 I applied for a Disability Pension for "depression, anxiety and stress" which 
the DVA acknowledged.  I was then refused my application for "anxiety disorder and alcohol 
dependence".  DVA had changed my claim without advising or consulting with me and my 
claim was forwarded to The Veterans Review Board.  
 
I also told Christine that on two occasions the Department of Veteran's Affairs had told me to 
spend my money to be tested for sleep apnoea and to have an inspection of my teeth by a 
dentist.  I hold a DVA white card.  
 
The DVA said that they would refund the money that I had spent and then would follow up 
with further treatment.  When DVA were asked to pay for the consultations and further 
treatment, DVA refused.   
 
As you are probably aware under Promissory Estoppel it is illegal for the Government to tell a 
person to spend money and then advise them the Government has changed its mind about a 
refund and further treatment.   
 
I am currently seeing a psychiatrist and psychologist, both of which are being paid for by 
DVA under my white card.  My wife is also seeing a psychologist because of my illness.  I 
first saw my psychiatrist in January 2011, following a referral from my GP.  It was my 
psychiatrist who advised me I was eligible to apply for a DVA White Card which would help 
pay for my treatment. He assisted me with making an application for a white card on the basis 
of his diagnosis of PTSD.  I was subsequently issued a white card for Anxiety. 
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In 2002 I was seen by a DVA psychiatrist who diagnosed me with a Generalised Anxiety 
Disorder.  In his report he noted that if I did not receive treatment my condition would 
become permanent.  I was not advised by DVA that I would have been eligible for treatment 
under a white card.  I did not receive any treatment until 2006 when, on my own initiative, I 
sought help from my GP who prescribed anti-depressant medication.  
 
My mental illness has left me unfit for general employment and I receive a Centrelink 
disability pension.   
 
I have undertaken academic research in Aboriginal Housing as a PhD candidate in 
architecture at QUT and as a Research Scholar with the Australian Housing and Urban 
Research Institute.  The solitary nature of research meant I was able to research at my own 
pace when I felt well enough, and it meant I did not feel completely useless and was able to 
make an important contribution to society. Except for scholarships my research has been 
unfunded. 
  
The recent SKYPE affair has seriously reactivated the memories of the assault against me in 
1976.  Over the past two years I have been overwhelmed and unable to continue with my PhD 
because of the increase of my PTSD.   
Last week, my professor contacted me and offered to send a post-graduate researcher from 
QUT (Brisbane) to the Barossa Valley to assist me to complete my thesis.  I said that although 
I wished to finish my PhD, my current mental and emotional state prevents me from doing so.   
Since the SKYPE affair two years ago I have been on sick leave from my PhD research. 
Yesterday I sent an email to my professor advising him that I was unable to complete because 
of my mental/emotional illness and that I was withdrawing from my PhD candidature.  
 
My mental capacity is becoming worse. 
 
It is the appalling behaviour of the ADF in the past that has caused the mental illnesses of 
veterans like myself, and it is the current appalling behaviour of the DVA that is continuing 
and exacerbating the abuse under the umbrella of the Australian Governments.  The 
stonewalling and delaying tactics the DVA engages in deny and delay our claims until we 
give up, die of old age or commit suicide. 
 
Please advise any assistance you may be able to offer. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
John Lawler 
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